IMPERIAL COLLEGE LONDON

Faculty of Natural Sciences

Center for Environmental Policy

MEASURING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INCENTIVES: CAN EXPERIMENTAL GAMES REALLY GIVE US THE ANSWER?

By

Davy MARTIN

A report submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the MSc and/or the DIC.

September 11, 2013

Declaration of own work

I declare that this thesis *Measuring the effectiveness of incentives: can experimental games really give us the answer?* is entirely my own work and that where any material could be construed as the work of others, it is fully cited and referenced, and/or with appropriate acknowledgement given.

Signature:

Name of student: Davy Martin

Name of supervisors:

Henry Travers E.J. Milner-Gulland

Authorisation to hold electronic copy of MSc thesis

Thesis title: Measuring the effectiveness of incentives: can experimental games really give us the answer?

Author: Davy Martin

I hereby assign to Imperial College London, Centre of Environmental Policy the right to hold an electronic copy of the thesis identified above and any supplemental tables, illustrations, appendices or other information submitted therewith (the thesis) in all forms and media, effective when and if the thesis is accepted by the College. This authorisation includes the right to adapt the presentation of the thesis abstract for use in conjunction with computer systems and programs, including reproduction or publication in machine-readable form and incorporation in electronic retrieval systems. Access to the thesis will be limited to ET MSc teaching staff and students and this can be extended to other College staff and students by permission of the ET MSc Course Directors/Examiners Board.

Signed:

Name printed: Davy MARTIN

Date: September 11, 2013

Contents

1	Intr	Introduction									
	1.1	Conte	xt	12							
	1.2	Aims a	and objectives	13							
	1.3	Thesis	structure	14							
2	Background										
	2.1 Common-Pool Resources:										
		a beha	avioural economics problem	15							
		2.1.1	Common-Pool Resources and incentives for								
			$conservation \ldots \ldots$	15							
		2.1.2	"Beyond homo economicus"	18							
	2.2	Behav	iour in experimental games	20							
		2.2.1	Variables of interest	20							
		2.2.2	Social preferences in n-person Prisoner's Dilemmas	21							
	2.3	The ex	xternal validity of game experiments	25							
		2.3.1	External validity in theory	25							
		2.3.2	The external validity of social dilemma games:								
			empirical results to date	28							
3	Cas	e Stud	ly	31							
	3.1	Study	site	31							
	3.2	2 A framed field CPR game from									
		Traver	$es et al. (2011) \dots $	35							
		3.2.1	Participants' selection	35							
		3.2.2	Game rules	36							

		3.2.3	Some results	37			
4	Hypotheses						
5	Met	thods		41			
	5.1	Indivi	dual game behaviour	41			
		5.1.1	Modeling approach	41			
		5.1.2	Estimators/predictors of individual fish extraction	43			
		5.1.3	Individual fish extraction	49			
		5.1.4	Individual Sensitivity to Treatments	51			
	5.2	Indivi	dual real-life behaviour	55			
		5.2.1	$Observed \ behaviour \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $	55			
		5.2.2	Stated behaviour	56			
	5.3	Correl	lation between individual game and real-life behaviours $% \left({{{\bf{x}}_{i}}} \right)$	60			
		5.3.1	Data Matching	60			
		5.3.2	Subset representativeness	60			
		5.3.3	Correlation analysis	61			
6	\mathbf{Res}	ults		63			
	6.1	Indivi	dual game behaviour	63			
		6.1.1	Socio-demographic variables	63			
		6.1.2	Individual fish extraction	65			
		6.1.3	Sensitivity to treatments	66			
		6.1.4	Indicators interpretation	70			
	6.2	Indivi	dual real-life behaviour	72			
		6.2.1	PES participation	72			
		6.2.2	Illegal land clearance	72			
		6.2.3	Stated preferences	73			
		6.2.4	Correlations between real-life indicators	74			
	6.3	Correl	lation between game and real-life behaviour	76			
7	Dis	cussior	1	79			
	7.1	An ini	novative method for characterising				
		game behaviour					

		7.1.1	Player categorisation is plausible	80
		7.1.2	Player categorisation yields encouraging results $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	83
	7.2	Contra	sted evidence for the external validity of CPR games	84
		7.2.1	Positive but fragile results for observed behaviour $\ . \ . \ .$	84
		7.2.2	Exploring why there was no evidence for stated preferences .	86
		7.2.3	Validation of hypotheses $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	88
	7.3	Broade	er implications: experimental games as a decision-making tool	89
	7.4	Furthe	$r research \ldots \ldots$	90
	7.5	Conclu	sion \ldots	91
Re	efere	nces		92
\mathbf{A}	Mo	del sele	ection	106
в	Sen	sitivity	to treatments: five configurations	107
С	Con	npariso	on of individual fish extraction indicators	110
	C.1	Charao	eteristic values	110
	C.2	Distrib	oution shapes	112
	C.3	Precisi	on	112
	C.4	Conclu	sion on indicator selection	113
D	Sub	set rep	presentativeness	114
\mathbf{E}	Cor	relatio	n patterns between game and real-life behaviour	116
	E.1	Observ	red behaviour	116
		E.1.1	PES participation	116
		E.1.2	Illegal land clearance \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	117
	E.2	Stated	preferences	117
		E.2.1	Opinion on conservation interventions	117
		E.2.2	Perception of authorities $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	118
		E.2.3	Interpersonal trust	119

List of Figures

2.1	Types of conservation approaches	16
2.2	Types of variables influencing cooperation in social dilemmas	20
3.1	Map of the study area	32
5.1	Sensitivity to treatment vs individual attributes estimator, $T<0~$.	53
6.1	Expected fish extraction versus individual attributes estimator $\ . \ .$	66
6.2	Sensitivities to treatments versus individual attributes estimator	69
6.3	Expected fish extraction versus sensitivity to treatment	71
6.4	Distributions of stated preferences	75
6.5	Correlation patterns between game and observed real-life behaviour	78
7.1	Categorisation of players under positive treatment effects $\ . \ . \ .$	83
C.1	Individual fish extraction indicators	111
C.2	Confidence intervals of individual fish extraction indicators	113
E.1	Game indicators versus real-life indicators	121

List of Tables

2.1	Studies testing the external validity of experimental games	29
3.1	PES programmes and targeted behaviour	34
3.2	Main figures of previous analyses on real-life behaviour	35
3.3	CPR game rules	37
3.4	Main figures of previous analyses on individual game behaviour $\ .$.	38
4.1	Summary of hypotheses	40
5.1	Individual attributes and micro-situational settings estimators	48
5.2	Summary of individual behaviour indicators	59
5.3	Summary of correlation tests and associated hypotheses	62
6.1	Individual rank variation due to socio-demographic variables $\ . \ . \ .$	65
6.2	Characteristic values for expected fish extraction	67
6.3	Treatment effects	68
6.4	Player type counts and proportions	70
6.5	Correlation tests significance	77
7.1	Player categorisation in the literature	81
A.1	Model selection	106
B.1	Sensitivity to treatments: five configurations	109
C.1	Characteristic values for individual fish extraction indicators	111
C.2	Shape parameters of individual fish extraction indicators $\ldots \ldots$	112
D.1	Results of homogeneity tests	115

List of abbreviations

AIC	Akaike information criterion
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BLUE	Best linear unbiased estimator
BLUP	Best linear unbiased predictor
CC	Conditional Cooperators
CENTDOR	Center for Development Orientated Research into Agriculture and Livelihood Systems
CPR	Common-pool resources
F	Free-rider
GLMM	Generalized linear mixed model
GSS	General Social Survey
ICDP	Integrated Conservation and Development Project
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
LSD	Least significant difference
MAFF	Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of the Royal
	Government of Cambodia
MoE	Ministry of Environment of the Royal Government of Cambodia
PA	Protected Area
PES	Payments for ecosytem services
PG	Public good
PLUP	Participatory land-use plan
SFM	Sustainable forest management
UC	Unconditional cooperator
WCS	Wildlife Conservation Society

Abstract

While the amount of money spent globally on conservation is currently insufficient to sustain environmental services, human overexploitation of common-pool resources is a major threat to conservation. Experimental games have been widely used to gain insight on individual behaviour in common-pool resources problems, including individual response to incentives for conservation, yet few studies have explored the external validity of such games in real life. This study investigates the external validity of a common-pool resources game played in Cambodia, in an area where incentives for conservation have been implemented in recent years. Based on a considerable body of evidence that cooperation and reciprocation are salient determinants of individual behaviour, we develop an innovative method to categorise players according to a dual measure of individual cooperativeness and responsiveness to incentives in the game, and we compare it to individual behaviour in real-life, both observed through involvement in conservation mechanisms and conservation rule compliance, and proxied by preferences stated in a survey. The results provide a weak support to the correlation between game behaviour and observed real-life behaviour. They suggest that experimental games might be a valuable decision-making tool to target conservation interventions or to assess conservation policies, and that further research is required to seek stronger correlations between games and real-life.

Word count:17641Number of floats/tables/figures:24Number of math inlines:239

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would to thank my supervisors E.J. Milner-Gulland and Henry Travers for their excellent help, guidance and encouragement over the course of this research. I am indebted to them for this exciting exploratory project and deeply grateful for the trust they have placed in me.

I would also like to thank Tom Clements, for providing me the work of his thesis and data without which this study would not have been possible.

A special mention to Benjamin, Charles, and Guillaume for the tremendous lolilol breaks we had during this semester. Finally, many thanks to Jacque-Elie, Gaspard and Lazare, always there to support me.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Context

The amount of money spent globally on conservation is currently insufficient to maintain the Earth's biological diversity (James, Gaston & Balmford, 2001), raising concerns about prioritization of conservation efforts (Wilson *et al.*, 2006). Among threats, overharvesting of open-access natural resources by self-interested humans is predicted to be unavoidable (Hardin, 1968). As a large part of the world's ecosystem services value is unmarketed (Costanza *et al.*, 1997), economic incentives for conservation such as Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES) have been increasingly implemented over the past few years (Jack, Kousky & Sims, 2008).

Yet human behaviour consistently fails to fit into the model of the self-interested man, and rather stems from a complex set of preferences in which social norms and self-interest conflict (Dawes, 1980). Experimental games have been widely used to gain insight on such human behaviour (Gintis, 2000). Among them, Common-Pool Resource (CPR) games let a group of players confront a harveting dilemma in rich and realistic settings (Ostrom, Walker & Gardner, 1992).

Although a salient advantage of experimental games over naturally-occurring observations is that they provide controlled variation of variables (Falk & Heckman, 2009), the question of their external validity is a matter of debate (Levitt & List, 2007). Framed field experiments, which are lab experiments conducted on the targeted population and with realistic rules, allow to overcome two kinds of possible biases that are participants' selection and game structure biases (Harrison & List, 2004). Nevertheless, whether participants behave consistently accross contexts or not remains an open question to which contrasted evidence was brought (Voors *et al.*, 2012). A positive answer would designate experimental games as a valuable decision-making tool for policy targeting; in particular, individual response to incentives in CPR games would allow to identify responsive populations to target conservation incentives in real-life.

This case study focuses on a framed field CPR game. The rules allowed various institutional arrangements, notably economic incentives for conservation. The game was played in Cambodia, in four villages located in two Protected Areas where PES schemes and conservation rules have been implemented in recent years.

1.2 Aims and objectives

The aim is to investigate the external validity of a framed field CPR game.

The stakes are twofold: positive results would indicate that CPR games can be used as a tool to target people receptive to PES opportunities, and to anticipate uneffective implementation of conservation rules. Therefore the objectives of this thesis consist in:

- Developing a method for characterising individual response to incentives from the game data.
- Selecting relevant indicators of individual real-life behaviour, based on observed enrollment in PES schemes, on observed compliance with conservation rules, and stated preferences assessed through surveys.
- Analysing correlation patterns at an individual level between game behaviour and real-life behaviour.

Few studies have tested the external validity of framed field CPR games. To our knowledge, none has examined a wide range of real-life variables, nor has explored responses to conservation incentives. This study aims at bringing evidence to fill this gap.

1.3 Thesis structure

Chapter 2 details the state of the art concerning conservation incentives and human behaviour in common-pool resource dilemmas. It then tackles the use of experimental games for gaining insight on behaviour in such dilemmas, and finally focuses on their external validity, through theoretical considerations as well as empirical results from previous case studies.

Chapter 3 presents the Cambodian case study, including previous research results on individual response to conservation interventions, and on the CPR game.

Chapter 4 formulates objectives and hypotheses in the light of the two introductory chapters.

Chapter 5 describes the method developed to characterise individual behaviour in the game and in real life and to confront them.

Chapter 6 proceeds to an examination of the behavioural indicators defined in the previous chapter, then inspects the correlation patterns between game indicators and real-life indicators.

Chapter 7 discusses the results of Chapter 4, assessing the behavioural indicators and summarising evidence in support of the hypotheses formulated in Chapter 3. It concludes on the external validity of the CPR game, prescribes recommendations for policy-making and suggests tracks for future research.

Chapter 2

Background

2.1 Common-Pool Resources: a behavioural economics problem

2.1.1 Common-Pool Resources and incentives for conservation

Global conservation expenses are currently not efficient enough to sustain environmental services (James, Gaston & Balmford, 1999), so that concerns have emerged about prioritizing conservation efforts in terms of cost-effectiveness (Engel, Pagiola & Wunder, 2008; Ferraro & Kiss, 2002). Common-pool resources (CPR) are subtractable, non-excludable goods (Ostrom, Gardner & Walker, 1994). In his influential paper "The Tragedy of the Commons", Hardin (1968) predicts that self-interested human behaviour necessarily leads to CPR overharvesting under weak property rights, as a result of self-gain maximization. CPR overexploitation therefore endangers a wide range of natural resources, for instance irrigation systems (Fisher et al., 2010; Janssen et al., 2013), forest resources (Ostrom, 1999; Andersson & Agrawal, 2011), or fisheries (Holt, Rutherford & Peterman, 2008; Husain & Bhattacharya, 2004).

A major fraction of environmental services value is unmarketed (Costanza *et al.*, 1997). As a consequence, economic incentives for conservation have been proposed

as a means to modify individual utility from CPR extraction and hence trigger conservation of the resource (Sommerville, Jones & Milner-Gulland, 2009). Comparative research has indicated that a programme's cost-effectiveness depends on various factors, including the distribution of payoffs for a single mechanism (Chen *et al.*, 2010) and site targeting (Alix-Garcia, De Janvry & Sadoulet, 2005; Barton *et al.*, 2003; Ferraro, 2004), but also the type of mechanism, as many conservation mechanisms exist, differing mostly in the degree to which they rely on economic incentives and the degree to which they are integrated in broader development policies (Wunder, 2005; Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Types of conservation approaches. From Wunder (2005).

Integrated approaches, such as Sustainable Forest Management (SFM) or Integrated Conservation and Development Projects (ICDPs) aim at simultaneous progress at the developmental and environmental levels (Wunder, 2005). ICDPs were designed to induce a change in behaviour toward natural resources through enhancement of livelihood conditions (Barrett & Arcese, 1995). However, it appears that ICDPs have not achieved significant progress when conservation goals and the subsidized development activity are not strongly linked (Winkler, 2011), as ICDPs could involve costs higher than the benefits they create (Adams *et al.*, 2004). Consequently, direct approaches have been proposed as more cost-effective than integrated approaches (Ferraro & Simpson, 2002).

Among direct approaches, Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES) are defined as a payment between a 'buyer' and a voluntary 'provider' (*i.e.* economic incentives) under provision that the provider secure an environmental service defined by the two parties (hence direct approach; Wunder, 2007). Examples of PES initiatives include habitat protection (Frost & Bond, 2008), agro-environmental practices (Pagiola *et al.*, 2004) and carbon sequestration schemes (Fisher, 2012), recently comprising Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation schemes (REDD; Karsenty, Vogel & Castell, in press). As PES schemes are perceived as a more efficient approach (Ferraro, 2001; Wunder, 2005), they have been increasingly implemented over the last decade (Wunder, Engel & Pagiola, 2008).

However, evidence has been found that an agent's participation in PES schemes is not motivated solely by economic incentives, but also by social factors, such as social interaction at the local scale (Chen *et al.*, 2012), and conservation belief system (Villamor & van Noordwijk, 2011). A closer look at individual behaviour is required to understand individual decisions in resource conservation problems.

2.1.2 "Beyond homo economicus"

Collective action dilemmas encompass a range of situations in which a group of agents are to make individual choices between actions that include a self-gainmaximizing action, which once taken by all agents yields a lower individual payoff than another outcome (Goetze, 1994). A rational-choice user would then choose the self-gain-maximizing action, because attaining the more efficient outcome requires an individually costly cooperation between members of the group (Hardin, 1968; Olson, 1971). Collective actions dilemmas include in particular public goods (PG) dilemmas and CPR dilemmas (Dawes, 1980). While both PG and CPR are characterized as non-excludable, or at least non-trivially excludable goods, CPR are subtractable, which means that resource harvesting by an individual reduces the amount of resource available to other users (Ostrom, Gardner & Walker, 1994). As a consequence, a resource-user exerts a negative externality on other users through pressure on the rival resource, which can also affect the quality of other environmental services, *i.e.* exert a negative externality through deterioration of a public good (e.g. wood harvesting entailing soil erosion and a decrease in water quality; Cardenas, Stranlund & Willis, 2000).

Hardin's rationale focused on the case of common-pool resources, to demonstrate that homo economicus, as a rational-user, would be trapped by his short-term selfinterest, even if it did not coincide with a long-term collective strategy, leading to the overexploitation of the resource. He therefore took the view that solving the commons dilemma would require either the definition of private property rights or the enforcement of rules defined by a central entity, such as a government. However, his theory did not explain why certain local, self-governing communities achieved a sustainable use of their commons (Ostrom, 1990).

Social-psychology has indicated that individual behaviour is not only motivated by outcome-maximization, but also by behavioural satisfaction (Simon, 1976). As such, collective action dilemmas have been termed 'social dilemmas' by Dawes (1980). Since then, a growing body of evidence has highlighted the important role of psychological factors in such problems (Colman, 2003; Dawes & Messick, 2000; Fehr & Fischbacher, 2002; Van Lange *et al.*, 2007) that go "beyond homo economicus" theory (Gintis, 2000).

A considerable amount of research has been conducted to explore the mechanisms that would help solve CPR problems, and more generally social dilemmas. General findings support in particular that cooperation among individuals is higher than expected under the rational-user model, and that it depends on micro-situational factors such as communication and sanctioning among peers (Ostrom, 2000), as well as individual social norms, such as trust, fairness, or reciprocity (Cardenas & Carpenter, 2005, for a review; Ostrom, 1998). To draw these conclusions, research methods mostly involve experimental game studies (e.g. Cardenas, 2000; Ostrom, Gardner & Walker, 1994), as well as theoretical modeling (Castillo & Saysel, 2005; Jager et al., 2000). Indeed, though real-life examples of successful and unsuccessful CPR management cases are numerous (Baland & Platteau, 1996; National Research Council, 1986; Wade, 1988), natural experiments on CPR problems (that is, based on naturally-occurring observations; List, 2005), are not reported in the literature. Indeed, moving to the field is a difficult process, due to issues such as causality inference from observed behaviour (Durlauf, 2002), and control of variables (Ostrom, 2006).

Experimental games allow for repeated experimental observations, under controlled conditions (Falk & Heckman, 2009). As such, they have yielded a number of consistent observations on behaviour in social dilemmas.

2.2 Behaviour in experimental games

2.2.1 Variables of interest

A general framework to assess which kind of variable affects individual decisions in social dilemmas has been developed by Poteete, Janssen & Ostrom (2010). From the individual level to the broadest level, they propose three categories of variables, a) learning and social norms at the individual level, b) micro-situational variables and c) broader contextual variables (Figure 2.2). In the context of an experiment, social norms are understood to be informal rules, that can be learned and evolve along with micro-situational variables and broader contextual variables. Micro-situational variables, suggested to have a stronger influence on individual-level variables than broader contextual variables, are group-scale variables, which can be related to group composition (*e.g.* group size) or the contextual rules under which the group makes their decisions (*e.g.* allowance of communication, of peer punishment), while broader contextual variables are any relevant macro-situational variables (*e.g.* national rules, geography).

In the light of this framework, experimental games allow researchers to set and to control micro-situational conditions, and to measure individual social preferences accordingly.



Figure 2.2: Types of variables influencing cooperation and outcomes in social dilemmas. From Poteete, Janssen & Ostrom (2010)

2.2.2 Social preferences in n-person Prisoner's Dilemmas

Different games for different preferences

2-person versus n-person games Games aiming to assess human behaviour in social dilemmas include the Prisoner's Dilemma, as well as Dictator, Ultimatum, Assurance, Trust, Public Goods and Common-Pool Resources Games. These games are commonly used to characterise distinct individual social preferences (Cardenas & Carpenter, 2005). While Dictator and Ultimatum Games measure fairness or inequity aversion (Fehr & Schmidt, 1999), Trust games trust or trustworthiness from players (Glaeser *et al.*, 2000), PG and CPR problems focus on cooperation. Although the Prisoner's Dilemma and Assurance games also focus on cooperation, n-person dilemmas allow for a more refined contextualisation of a group social dilemma, and are believed to deliver more realistic and more subtle outcomes (Ostrom, Walker & Gardner, 1992).

PG versus CPR games PG problems consist of individuals contributing at the expense of private, safe benefits for a collective reward evenly shared among contributors, whereas CPR problems involve individuals extracting or consuming a resource for private, safe benefits at the expense of a collective reward for conserving the resource. However, the question of the difference between PG games and CPR games is nontrivial. Although PG and CPR are two distinct types of goods, the problems associated are similar n-person Prisoner's Dilemmas (van Dijk & Wilke, 1995). While the common formalization for PG games can be structurally different from CPR games, depending on the expression of rivalry in the CPR game (Apesteguia & Maier-Rigaud, 2006), most researchers agree that they can be formulated with an identical structure (Gintis, 2000; Ledyard, 1994; van Dijk & Wilke, 1995). However, research on whether they were associated with distinct *choice behaviours* concluded differently. Consistent results indicate that players are sensitive to the framing difference between PG and CPR games, which makes them two distinct cooperation games (Gintis, 2000; Ostrom, 1998; van Dijk & Wilke, 1995).

Response to micro-situational settings

Group interactions Communication has been demonstrated to increase cooperation both in PG games and in CPR games, despite the fact that verbal agreement does not create any externality for a selfish player, who therefore should not be affected by 'cheap talk' (Ostrom & Walker, 1997). Furthermore players engage spontaneously in free-rider punishment when they are allowed to do so, leading to an increase in cooperation (Ostrom, 2000). Punishments increase with the magnitude of free-riders' deviations from average contributions, and punishers readily choose this costly action with no guaranteed prospect of future private reward (Fehr & Gächter, 2000a). Group composition has also been found to be a significant variable: low group size increases cooperation as a possible consequence of easier communication (Poteete & Ostrom, 2004), while group heterogeneity, for instance nationality hererogeneity, was shown to have an impact, albeit an unpredictable one (Cardenas & Carpenter, 2005; Poteete & Ostrom, 2004).

Institutional settings Positive economic incentives aim at creating positive externalities on individual benefits, and economic sanctions at creating negative extremalities on individual costs, both to stimulate cooperation (Ostrom, Gardner & Walker, 1994). Yet external rules implemented in framed field experiments can meet significant rejection by participants (Cardenas, 2005; Janssen et al., 2013), as regulation might be perceived as illegitimate (Castillo *et al.*, 2011). Acceptance of governmental rules that restrict access to common-pool resources is linked to the paramount role of property rights (Bowles & Gintis, 2002). Indeed, as weak enforcement of property rights acts as an incomplete contract, resource-users might perceive their actual rights over resources are stronger than the law prescribes (Cardenas, 2008). Moreover, external rules can lead to a *crowding-out* effect of norms, that is, economic incentives can reroute moral motivations to economic ones. A pioneering example was provided by Titmuss (1971), who claimed that blood donations might decrease if people were financially rewarded for their donation, instead on relying on civic conscience; which proved true for women (Mellström & Johannesson, 2010). Some experiments suggest that the crowding-out effect might change preferences on the long-term (Bowles, 2008). The occurrence

of the effect in CPR games, resulting in a decrease in cooperation, was reported after the introduction of both external penalties (Cardenas, Stranlund & Willis, 2000; Vollan, 2008), and external positive incentives (Narloch, Pascual & Drucker, 2012). Nevetheless, other studies acknowledged the positive effect of external incentives on cooperation (Cardenas, 2005; del Pilar Moreno-Snchez & Maldonado, 2010; Hayo & Vollan, 2012). Rodriguez-Sickert, Guzman and Cardenas (2008) even suggested that low incentives could have an unexpectedly high impact, stemming from both economic reasons and a positive impact on social interactions, by preventing cooperators to engage in retaliation against free-riders.

These observations make clear that individual behaviour in social dilemmas relies not only on individual pre-learnt social norms, but on their complex interaction with micro-situational settings.

Categorisation of players

Three main profiles of players, based on their relation to cooperation in n-person social dilemmas, emerge consistently in the literature:

- Free-riders are uncooperative players, acting out a self-interest. That comprise pure, or strong, free-riders, and weak free-riders (Isaac & Walker, 1988). In the case of PG games, strong free-riders adopt the 'zero-contribution' strategy, whereas weak free-riders merely consistently undercontribute (*e.g.* Isaac and Walker, 1988, use 30% contribution as a threshold). It has been suggested that up to 30% of players adopt the 'zero-contribution' self-interested strategy (Fischbacher, Gächter & Fehr, 2001).
- Altruistic people are unconditional cooperators (Carpenter & Seki, 2011), or sometimes simply called cooperators (Kurzban & Houser, 2005), that is, people bearing a cost for cooperation without any prospect of future net benefits (Fehr & Fischbacher, 2003). That include *pure* altruism, out of which the costs they are ready to bear increase with the others' resulting payoffs, and *warm-glow* altruism, out of which personal costs are not related to others' benefits, as the warm-glow altruistic person enjoys only the act of making an altruistic action (Anderson, Goeree & Holt, 1998).

• The third category of player has received a growing body of attention, as their behaviour is key to group cooperation (Axelrod, 1981; Fehr & Gächter, 2000b; Bowles, 2008). They are conditional cooperators (Fischbacher, Gächter & Fehr, 2001), or reciprocators (Kurzban & Houser, 2007). A lot of research has underlined the importance of reciprocity as a social norm for this kind of player, meaning that they both engage in increased (respectively decreased) cooperation in response to others' signal for (respectively against) cooperation (Fehr & Gächter, 2000b). The response of conditional cooperators to micro-situational changes is therefore paramount. In particular, it is worth noting that it has been suggested conditional cooperation was strengthened by incentives (Gächter & Falk, 2002).

Further research focusing on the link between types of players and other social norms indicates that cooperators (unconditonal plus conditional) are associated with significantly higher measures of trust (Boone, Declerk & Kiyonari, 2010), so that they initiate cooperation by playing as if social dilemmas were a incentive for cooperation (by perceiving for instance Prisoner's Dilemma as an Assurance Game; Simpson, 2004). Although social norms form a social capital that is hard to characterise (Durlauf, 2002), trust is deemed to be a salient indicator of that social capital (Bowles & Gintis, 2002). Reputation is then connected to trust, as players expected to be trustworthy are more easily trusted (English, 2012; Glaeser *et al.*, 2000). On the whole, trust, reciprocity and reputation are interconnected (Berg, Dickhaut & McCabe, 1995), which is particularly relevant in the light of Ostrom's findings that trust, reciprocity and reputation within a group were paramount for solving CPR problems (Ostrom, 1998).

2.3 The external validity of game experiments

Although experimental games deliver valuable insight on mechanisms underlying CPR dilemmas, and especially on the categorisation of individual behaviour in response to a wide range of group-level settings, a major question has not yet been addressed. So far, we have seen evidence that CPR games can be a tool that helps understanding of how CPR dilemmas are dealt with in real life. We have not yet explored whether the very same set of players would behave consistently in these games and in real life.

> Does the observation of a set of players in a CPR game predict their actual behaviour in real life?

What is at stake is the ability to identify the individuals most sensitive to conservation policies, what is more at a moderate cost. Establishing external validity could empower games with two purposes: to assess policies efficiency (Attanasio & Phillips, 2008; Coleman & Lopez, 2010), and to target populations particularly responsive to conservation incentives (Voors *et al.*, 2012).

2.3.1 External validity in theory

As the range of experiments and tools available to social and economic sciences has increased only recently (Levitt & List, 2009), increasing attention has been given to the question of external validity over the past few years. Indeed, examples of dual experiments conducted in laboratory and naturally-occurring settings have highlighted stronger anomalies in the lab than in real-life (List, 2005; Lusk, Pruitt & Norwood, 2006). For example, List (2005) reports the results of a cardsale experiment. Sellers provided sport cards to buyers at low and high prices, and the quality of the sport cards sold was unobserved by the buyer. Therefore, card quality was a measure of trustworthiness, and sellers acting out of pure selfinterest would sell cards of low quality, no matter what price was offered by the buyer. The experiment showed that pure self-interest was not observed, but that self-interest was significantly higher in the naturally-occurring environment than in the laboratory, where the sellers were scrutinised. These results lend credence to concerns on the applicability of lab experiment results to real-life conditions (Levitt & List, 2008). Although arguing that experiments provide qualitative insight, Levitt and List (2006) acknowledge that the decisions subjects make in experiments depend on the scrutiny under which they are placed, the context in which the decision is to be made, and the selection process of participants.

Various experimental forms have been developed in order to reduce these biases as much as possible. Harrison and List (2004) defined a taxonomy of experiments according to their contextualisation:

- *Conventional lab experiments* are conducted with a standard pool of participants, typically students, with a standard and imposed set of rules.
- Artefactual field experiments differ from conventional lab experiments by using a targeted population instead of students.
- Framed field experiments differ from artefactual field experiments by customizing context, using for instance a non-standard commodity (e.g. firewood instead of abstract CPR; Cardenas, 2000) or customized rule-making.
- Natural field Experiments differ from all others by studying subjects in a naturally-occurring environment without having the participants know they are being observed. Natural field CPR experiments have not yet been reported (Anderies *et al.*, 2011).

Each step closer to the field has been shown to remove or reduce specific biases.

Conventional versus artefactual field experiments

The difference between the two kinds of experiments resides in the profile of participants. Students from western developed countries are commonly employed to take part in experimental games (Henrich *et al.*, 2005). Although cross-cultural analyses show consistent behaviour in social dilemmas (*e.g.* across nationalities; Ahn, Ostrom & Walker, 2010), and although some authors argue that pool homogeneity is the key variable concerning the pool (Harrison & List, 2004), others have found significant behavioural differences between different types of pool. Contributions to a PG game were found to be significantly lower from students than from fishermen of the same country by Carpenter and Seki (2011), and significant variations in social preferences among 15 small-scale societies were reported by Henrich *et al.* (2005). Henrich *et al.* (2010) focused specifically on the difference between western, developped country subjects (WEIRD, for members of Western, Educated, Industrialized, Rich and Democratic countries) and other societies, which revealed significant gaps, notably regarding cooperation in social dilemmas.

Artefactual versus framed field experiments

Framed field experiments allow for a customised context, which can be a major source of bias when not set properly. Crafting realistic rules is important to make participants more sensitive (Voinov & Bousquet, 2010), to reduce behavioural biases (formulation matters, *e.g.* PG and CPR games are structurally identical, but players do not behave the same in the two games) as well as the lack of understanding. Indeed, experimental games are often designed by scientists who assume participants will understand the games as economists do, which they do not (Smith, 2010), and even subjects educated in game theory fail to reach game predictions (Keser & Gardner, 1999). For instance, PG contributions have been reported to be interpreted as opportunities for gambling by some participants in local communities (Hill & Gurven, 2004).

The principal advantages of framed field experiments are twofold: they reduce context biases by confronting participants with close-to-real-life decisions, and participant selection biases by focusing on the very population for which the experiment looks for external validity.

2.3.2 The external validity of social dilemma games: empirical results to date

Only a limited number of empirical studies have aimed at validating game results with real-life data. Among them, few are framed field experiments or are based on n-person social dilemmas, even fewer are actual CPR games (Table 2.1). Real-life individual behaviour can consist either of indicators of observed behaviour, or use preferences stated by participants through surveys and questionnaires as a proxy, which can yield valuable insight on behavioural intentions (Anderies *et al.*, 2011). Table 2.1 presents the characteristics of empirical studies that have analysed the external validity of game experiments.

A very limited number of papers have focused on CPR group dilemmas. Three of them have compared game cooperation with stated preferences, and four of them with indicators of actual behaviour, to contrasted conclusions. Indeed while trust has been mentioned as a key variable for cooperation, all three studies conclude to an absence of correlation between game cooperation and trust as stated in real life. Among the four studies using actual behaviour indicators as measures for real-life cooperation, two find positive results, the other two negative ones. None has investigated individual conservation behaviour in real life. Indeed, Hayo and Vollan (2012), Prediger, Vollan and Frölich (2011), and Ruffle and Sosis (2006) have focused on community work. Gelcich *et al.* (2013) have explored whether the membership of fishermen in unions ranked by cooperativeness levels affected group cooperativeness in the game. However fishermen played with members of their own union, so that their results are valid at a group level only, and what was measured in the game followed its exact match in real-life, so that their results do not inform on the predictive power of CPR games.

Overall, only one study has included both stated preferences and observed behaviour. None has included a wide range of real-life variables, and none has examined game response to incentives, nor real-life conservation actions at an individual level. The aim of this study is to fill that gap.

Paper	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Exp.} \\ \text{type}^2 \end{array}$	${ m Game} \ { m type}^3$	Game variable	Real-life data type ⁴	Real-life variable	External validity ¹ conclusion
Bouma, Bulte & van Soest (2008)	AF	TG	Trust	Observed	Collective action (money, effort)	Yes
Gurven & Winking (2008)	AF	DG, UG	Fairness	Observed	Prosocial indicators	No
			Trustworthiness			No
Hill & Gurven (2004)	AF	UG	Fairness	Observed	Prosocial indicators	No
Karlan (2005)	AF	TG	Trust	Stated	General Social Survey (trust)	No
			Trustworthiness			Yes
		TG	Trust	Observed	Loan repayment	Yes
			Trustworthiness			Yes
Attanasio & Phillips (2008)	AF	PG	Cooperation	Observed	Programme beneficiary?	Yes (group level)
						No (individual level)
Benz & Meier (2008)	CL	PG	Cooperation	Observed	University funds contribution	Yes
Boone, Declerk & Kiyonari (2010)	CL	PD, AG	Cooperation	Stated	Social Value Orientation	Yes
Carpenter & Seki (2011)	AF	\mathbf{PG}	Cooperation	Observed	Fishing productivity	Yes (group level)
Coleman & Lopez (2010)	AF	TG, PG	$\rm Cooperation^5$	Observed	Programme beneficiary?	Yes

Table 2.1: Characteristics of studies testing the external validity of experimental games

¹Main conclusion of the authors on whether external validity was found or not.

²Type of game experiment: CL = Conventional laboratory, AF = Artefactual field, FF = Framed field

 3 Type of game: TG = Trust game, DG = Dictator game, UG = Ultimatum game, PG = Public goods game, CPR = Common-pool resource game.

"x"-pl. = groups of x players.

⁴Stated: Assessed through the use of surveys/questionnaires on participants' preferences, Observed: Behaviour observed in naturally-occurring environment.

⁵The authors interpreted the results of the Trust Game as a different form of cooperation than commonly reported in the literature.

English (2012)	CL	\mathbf{PG}	Cooperation	Stated	General Social Survey (trust)	No
Fehr & Leibbrandt (2011)	AF	PG	Cooperation	Observed	Shrimp traps hole size	Yes
Hill & Gurven (2004)	AF	PG	Cooperation	Observed	Prosocial indicators	No
Karlan (2005)	AF	PG	Cooperation	Stated	General Social Survey (trust)	No
				Observed	Loan repayment	No
Laury & Taylor (2008)	CL	PG	Cooperation	Observed	PG contribution (money)	Yes
Lusk, Pruitt & Norwood (2006)	\mathbf{FF}	\mathbf{PG}	Cooperation	Observed	Healthy product sales	Yes
Rustagi, Engel & Kosfeld (2010)	AF	PG	Cooperation	Observed	Forest management outcome	Yes
					Costly monitoring	Yes
Voors $et al.$ (2011)	AF	PG	Cooperation	Stated	Conservation opinion	No
				Observed	Illegal hunting	No
Voors $et al.$ (2012)	AF	PG	Cooperation	Observed	PG contribution (money)	No
Castillo et al. (2011)	\mathbf{FF}	5-pl CPR	Fishing effort	Stated	Trust	No
Gelcich $et al.$ (2013)	\mathbf{FF}	5-pl CPR	Fish extraction	Observed	Fisherman's union status	Yes
Hayo & Vollan (2012)	\mathbf{FF}	5-pl CPR	Sheep extraction	Observed	Effort in collective action	Yes (group level,
						homogeneity required)
Janssen et al. (2013)	\mathbf{FF}	5-pl CPR	Forest harvesting	Stated	Trust	No
Prediger, Vollan & Frölich (2011)	\mathbf{FF}	5-pl CPR	Field grazing	Stated	Trust	No
				Observed	Effort in collective action	No
Ruffle & Sosis (2006)	AF	2-pl CPR	Money extraction	Observed	Membership in collectives?	No

Chapter 3

Case Study

3.1 Study site

Cambodia lies within the IndoBurma hotspot (Myers *et al.*, 2000) and contains four of the Global 200 Ecoregions (Olson & Dinerstein, 1998).

The Ministry of Environment (MoE) and Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (MAFF), with the support of the Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS) launched pilot PES programs as a complementary protected area (PA) management measure (Clements *et al.*, 2010), in the Northern Plains forest landscape, where land and resource rights are contested and governance is weak (Weingart, 2012), and where threats to species populations are considerable (Clements *et al.*, 2013). PA management in the Northern Plains was set as one of eleven top priorities by the MoE in the National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan (Ministry of Environment, 2002). Indeed, a significant decline in biodiversity has been recorded over the last decades in Cambodia (Loucks *et al.*, 2009), which shelters now many threatened species, including 17 reptile, 25 bird and 24 mammal species according to IUCN 2000 Red List (Ministry of Environment, 2010). The Northern Plains contain a large area of deciduous dipterocarp forest that include many of them (Clements *et al.*, 2010).

The sampled population lives in four villages within two PAs in the Northern Plains: the Kulen Promtep Wildlife Sanctuary, a 4025 km² area managed by the MoE and established in 1993, and Preah Vihear Protected Forest, a 1900 km² area



Figure 3.1: Map of the study area. From Clements (2012)

managed by the MAFF, and established in 2002 (Figure 3.1).

Three PES programs were implemented in the four villages. They are characterised by various levels of involvement of local institutions, and differ in the mode of payment. These four villages were selected because they were the first to agree on a participatory land-use plan (PLUP) and to implement PES programs (Clements, 2012).

PES programs.

The Bird Nest protection program delivers individual payments directly from WCS, while the two other schemes are village-managed programs, in which payments were initiated after the two-year PLUP process (Clements *et al.*, 2010).

Bird Nest protection program. Critically endangered bird species, such as giant ibis (Pseudibis gigantea) and white-shouldered ibis (Pseudibis davisoni), live in the area. Payments for bird nest protection are made by WCS to locate, monitor and protect nesting sites that are endangered by collection of eggs and chicks, which can reach prices of US\$100 in the national and international wildlife trade. Payments consist of a reward to local people of up to US\$5 for reporting nests. Reporters can then be hired as protectors, who receive \$1/day for their work and an extra \$1/day worked upon completion if the chicks successfully fledge (Clements *et al.*, 2013).

Ibis Rice program. An agri-environmental payment program was launched in 2007 under which farmers that follow a land-use plan and no-hunting rules are allowed to sell their rice through the village committee to a marketing association at preferential prices (Clements *et al.*, 2010).

Eco-tourism program. A community-based ecotourism program began in 2004 in the village of Tmatboey in Kulen Promtep Wildlife Sanctuary. Revenues are both individual, through employment or provision of services to tourists, and communal, as village committees of the villages involved in the program were contracted to stop illegal-hunting and enforce the PLUP (Clements *et al.*, 2008).

Conservation Rules

A PLUP was adopted in 2008 by the village committee of each village, subsequent to which land clearance was forbidden outside the boudaries delimited by the PLUP. Payments for Ibis Rice and Eco-tourism programmes were conditional to PLUP compliance. Participants in the Bird Nest and Eco-tourism schemes were also required to agree not to be involved in illegal hunting.

The PES programs, as well as the conservation rules, targeted a change in behaviour. In particular, the Ibis Rice and Eco-tourism programmes were designed to operate at the individual level and bring a decrease in illegal land clearance cases (Table 3.1). An analysis of their effectiveness in triggering a behavioural change was undertaken by Clements (2012). Individual illegal land clearance was

	Bird Nest	Ibis Rice	Eco-tourism	Monitoring level
Targeted behaviour				
Illegal bird hunting	Yes	No	Yes	Communal
Illegal land clearance	No	Yes	Yes	Individual
Target level	Individual	Individual	{ Individual Communal	

Table 3.1: PES programmes and targeted behaviour. Adapted from Clements (2012)

found to be correlated with participation in Ibis Rice and Eco-tourism program. However, this result is not sufficient to indicate a long-term link that would persist if partcipants were not involved in PES anymore, as Ibis Rice participants received payments that were conditional on rule compliance, and Eco-tourism participants signed a code of conduct including rule compliance. Therefore, these results do not indicate that any PES scheme affected rule compliance through norm internalization.

Investigation of illegal land clearance behaviour also showed that it was correlated with stated social norms, and stated attitudes toward local actors and local interventions. Indeed, stronger interpersonal trust was associated with lower illegal land clearance for two questions out of three, as well as a higher opinion of local authorities (village committee and PA rangers), and agreement with the PLUP. These findings suggest a set of stated preferences that can be associated with individual behaviour for further analysis. Table 3.2 summarises these correlations and their significance.

Table 3.2: Main figures of previous analyses on real-life behaviour in the study area. Adapted from Clements (2012)

Individual behaviour	Explan	Impact^1	$\operatorname{Sig.}^2$	
Illegal land clearance	Social norms	Trust question $1/3$	(-)	*
		Trust question $2/3$	(-)	(*)
	PES part. ³	Ibis Rice	(-)	***
		Eco-tourism	(-)	(*)
	Perception	Village committee	(-)	**
		PA rangers	(-)	*
		PLUP disagreement	(+)	**

¹ (+): positive correlation (-): negative correlation

² Significance level. (*): p < 0.1, *: p < 0.5, **: p < 0.01, ***: p < 0.001

³ PES program participation

3.2 A framed field CPR game from Travers *et al.* (2011)

A framed field CPR game was played between the 17th of June and the 16th of July, 2009.

3.2.1 Participants' selection

The game was played in the four villages forming the study area, where analyses of PES effectiveness and individual behaviour were performed, as described in the previous section.

80 participants from each village were selected by the village chiefs, who were asked to follow selection guidelines to reduce participants and group composition biases: (a) only one member per immediate family (except one village with a low population), (b) approximate gender parity each day, (c) even age distribution each day and (d) sampling covering all parts of the village (Travers, 2009).

The selection of participaths, therefore, allows for a comparison with individual real-life behaviour with a reduced participant selection bias.
3.2.2 Game rules

The CPR game study focused on the effect of institutional arrangements on CPR extraction. The experiment was conducted over four days in each village, 20 subjects playing each day. Subjects played 3 treatments in randomised groups of 10 people, including a control treatment plus two other treatments, randomly selected. Each treatment was a five-round extraction game in which people could extract between 0 and 10 fish from a collective pond. Subjects were told the pond contained 100 fish, and they decided on the number of fish they wanted to extract by circling illustrative fish on a paper sheet to reduce a possible disadvantage for illiterate participants. Hence, participants were confronted with a framed experiment.

The base individual payoff structure was the sum of two terms: a private benefit from individual fish extraction $(80 * x_i)$ proportional to the number of fish extracted x_i by Player i, and a collective benefit from the fish remaining in the pond after the group extraction $12 * (100 - \sum_{k=0}^{10} x_k)$. The game imposed a CPR dilemma as all players extracting zero fish yielded a higher payoff than all of them extracting some fish, but a self-interested player would be predicted to defect if all players agreed on zero-extraction.

Eight treatments were implemented in addition to the control treatment. Communication was not allowed in the control treatment, but was allowed between rounds in all others, giving to groups the possibility to reach an agreement on a collective strategy. The payoff structure of the peer-pressure treatment (treatment 1) was the same as in the control treatment, so that communication was the only difference between the two of them. Other treatments included individual penalty rules for extracting a positive number of fish, individual incentives for being the most cooperative player, and communal incentives for extracting a number of fish below a threshold (Table 3.3).

Treatment	Incentive type	Effect on payoff
T0: Control	-	Base: $80 * x_i + 12 * (100 - \sum_{k=0}^{10} x_k)$ No communication
T1: Peer-pressure	_	-
T2: Low enforcement	t Individual penalty	Low fine, probability 0.1 if $x_i > 0$
T3: High enforcement	nt	High fine, probability 0.1 if $x_i > 0$
T4: External individ	ual ^{\$1} Individual incentive	External payment if lowest x_i
T5: Internal individu	ıal \$	Payment if elected by the group
T6: Weak communal	\$ Communal incentive	Weak conditionality, low payment
T7: Low communal §	8	Strong conditionality, low payment
T8: High communal	\$	Strong conditionality, high payment

Table 3.3: CPR game rules, adapted from Travers et al. (2011)

¹ \$: payments

3.2.3 Some results

The impact of socio-demographic factors and micro-situational settings on individual fish extraction was modelled. The fitted model showed the following significant results (summary in Table 3.4):

- Most treatments achieved a reduction in fish extraction. Strongly conditional communal payments had the greatest effects, and individual incentives as well as a strong penalty rules were also effective. Communication alone had an impact, but not significant. The weak penalty rule led to an increase in fish extraction (crowding-out effect), but again this was not significant.
- Some treatments had a lasting effect, with an impact on fish extraction in subsequent treatments, suggesting that they triggered norm internalization.
- Educated people tended to extract more.
- Women tended to extract less.
- When communication was allowed, reaching a group agreement led to significantly lower fish extraction.

- Extraction increased round after round, and the effect was significant as soon as during Round 2.
- Extraction was significantly higher after the first experiment day in the village (*i.e.* during Days 2-3-4), suggesting a leakage effect due to communication between Day 1 participants and Days 2-3-4 participants.
- Individual, group and village effects were found to have an important impact on individual extraction, though the impact significance was not quantified.

Table 3.4: Main figures of previous analyses on individual game behaviour. Adapted from Travers $et \ al. \ (2011)$

Individual behaviour	Explanatory var	riable	Impact^1	$\operatorname{Sig.}^2$
Individual Fish Extraction	Treatment	Т3	(-)	**
		T4	(-)	*
		T5	(-)	*
		T7	(-)	***
		T8	(-)	**
	Previous	T5	(-)	***
		T8	(-)	**
	Education		(+)	*
	Woman		(-)	*
	Group decision		(-)	***
	Round $\neq 1$		(+)	***
	$Day \neq 1$		(+)	***

¹ (+): positive correlation (-): negative correlation

 2 Significance level. (*): p < 0.1,*: p < 0.5,**: p < 0.01,***: p < 0.001

Chapter 4

Hypotheses

On the one hand, research on the study site on real-life behaviour (response to incentives, rule compliance) has indicated that behaviour was linked to preferences stated by individuals: their social norms, and their perceptions of local authorities and of conservation interventions.

On the other hand, game analysis has underlined a number of factors at individual level and micro-situational level that have a significant impact on CPR extraction behaviour. Moreover, micro-situational settings included conditions suitable for the study of PES opportunities (*i.e.* individual positive incentives) and conservation rules (*i.e.* individual penalty rules).

Given the insightful observations on individual game and real-life behaviour detailed in the Background chapter, and provided the specific circumstances of the Cambodian case study described in the previous chapter, Table 4.1 summarises the hypotheses this study investigated.

Table 4.1: Summary of hypotheses

$\operatorname{Hypothesi}$	S					$\#^1$
Real-life beh	aviour	Expectation	Correlation	Game behaviour	Game conditions	
PES particip	ation	is strongly expected	to be correlated to	cooperativeness under	individual positive incentive	es $H1_1$
			and to	responsiveness to		$H1_2$
Rule complia	ance	is strongly expected	to be correlated to	cooperativeness under	individual penalty rules	$H2_1$
			and to	responsiveness to		$H2_2$
	PES schemes	is expected	to be correlated to	cooperativeness under	individual positive incentive	es $H3_{a1}$
			and to	responsiveness to		$H3_{a2}$
Opinion on \langle	conservation rules	is expected	to be correlated to	cooperativeness under to	individual penalty rules	$H3_{b1}$
			and to	responsiveness to		$H3_{b2}$
	$Both^2$	is expected	to be correlated to	cooperativeness under	baseline settings	$H3_c$
Perception of	f authorities	is expected	to be correlated to	cooperativeness under	individual incentives	$H4_1$
			and to	responsiveness to		$H4_2$
Social norms		are expected	to be correlated to	cooperativeness under	baseline settings	H5
Possible in	terpretation					$\#^1$
Cooperative	players under individ	ual economic incentives	s are either more con	servation-minded or attract	ed by PES benefits H	$(1_1, H3_{a1})$
Players mor	e sensitive to individu	al economic incentives	are more likely to be	attracted by PES benefits	H	$1_2, H_{3a2}$
Players coop	perative under and sen	nsitive to individual pen	alty rules are likely t	o be more compliant with re	eal-life conservation rules	$H2, H3_b$
Naturally co-	operative players are l	likely to be more conser	rvation-minded			$H3_{c}$
Players coop	perative under (sensiti	ve to) incentives are m	ore obedient to (easily	y influenced by) conservation	on authorities	H4
Social norms	s are more strongly er	nbedded among natural	ly cooperative players			H5

¹ Hypothesis number.

 2 All conservation interventions.

Chapter 5

Methods

5.1 Individual game behaviour

5.1.1 Modeling approach

Instead of defining individual game behaviour indicators directly with empirical fish extraction data, we predicted the number of fish taken by each player through a regression model, as it would allow us to control for micro-situational settings, by modelling the effect of each variable and then taking into account the ones relevant for mimicking real-life conditions. Besides, multiple observations for each individual could then be condensed into one point per player.

As described by Travers *et al.* (2011), a Generalized Linear Mixel Model (GLMM) was used to account for non-normal expectation function for the response variable (Lindstrom & Bates, 1990), and logit as the associated link function was adapted to the response variable type, that is, proportional discrete data (Zuur *et al.*, 2009). Besides, clustered data made the use of a mixed model necessary (Zuur *et al.*, 2009). In addition to that, mixed model random effects are particularly useful when multiple responses are recorded per individual, and individual variation is the focus of interest (Bolker *et al.*, 2009; Lindstrom & Bates, 1990).

All the analysis described in this chapter was performed using R software version 2.14.1 (R Development Core Team, 2011), unless specified otherwise. We ran

GLMMs with the 'lme4' package version 0.99937542 (Bates, Maechler & Bolker, 2010).

Parameter interpretation

Mixed models rely on the distinction between variables, which can be accounted for either as fixed effects with the aim of determining the specific effect of a variable value, and random effects that focus on the variation between levels of a variable (Bolker *et al.*, 2009).

Fixed effects can be interpreted as either the effect of an incremental unit for continuous and bounded proportional variables (*e.g.* one more year spent in education), or the effect of a specific level compared to the baseline level for binary and categorical variables (*e.g.* the effect size of a treatment different from the baseline treatment).

Random effects are normally distributed by the GLMM algorithm (Bates, 2010). Therefore, they can be interpreted as a deviation from the average value.

Model selection

Model selection was undertaken according to the protocol described by Travers *et al.* (2011). Relevant variables for fixed effects were selected through backwards stepwise selection and based on akaike information criterion (AIC; Akaike, 1974), with a threshold equal to 2: if deleting a variable induced a variation in AIC superior to 2, the variable was kept; otherwise, the most parsimonious model (*i.e.* the one without the considered variable) was preferred (Burnham & Anderson, 2004). Relevant variables for random effects were selected through likelihood ratios tests with and without each variable. Since parameters were estimated with Laplace approximation, this method of selection was appropriate (Bolker *et al.*, 2009).

Travers *et al.* (2011) fitted a model for fish extraction consisting of 6 fixed effect variables and 3 random effects. No interaction term between variables was included. Subsequent analysis by Travers *et al.* (2011) revealed that the effect of

round played was likely to be correlated with the effect of treatment played, as the evolution of the number of fish taken during a session of five rounds (the shape of the fish versus round curve) was dependent on the treatment played. Similarly, the effect of whether a decision was made and the effect of treatment played were likely to be correlated, as the effects of treatments yielded different conclusions with and without group decision. As a consequence, we tested models adding interaction terms between round, decision made and/or treatment to the model fitted in Travers *et al.* (2011), and selected the best fit based on the protocol described above (model selection table are provided in Appendix A, Table A.1).

5.1.2 Estimators/predictors of individual fish extraction

To predict individual fish extraction under the relevant micro-situational settings, we extracted from the fitted GLMM output the Best Linear Unbiased Estimators (BLUE, for fixed effects) and Predictors (BLUP, for random effects) which quantify variables effects (Henderson, 1975), and built an estimator for the effect of individual attributes and an estimator for the effect of micro-situational settings. The sum of the two estimators enabled us to predict fish extraction for each individual, under the set of relevant micro-situational conditions. In the subsections that follow, C_k is the GLMM output for the effect of variable k.

Individual attributes estimator

The individual attributes estimator P_i for player *i* was built aggregating the effects of individual socio-demographic variables and the remaining individual effect. These effects included:

- $C_{village_i}$ is the BLUP of the village in which player *i* lived
- C_{gender} is the BLUE of the gender of player i: $\begin{cases} 0 & \text{if man (baseline)} \\ C_{gender} & \text{if woman} \end{cases}$
- $C_{education}$ is the BLUE of the effect of one year spent in education. The effect of the time $education_i$ player i spent in education is thus:

$$C_{education} * education_i$$

C_{individual} is the BLUP of the remaining individual effect, that is, a predictor of the remaining propensity to fish more or less than average for player *i*, having controlled for the socio-demographic variables mentioned above. It can be interpreted as the temperament of Player *i*, where temperament describes behavioural disposition repeatable over time and accross situations (Réale *et al.*, 2007).

The objective is to categorise players according to their fish extraction behaviour. Temperament is a useful predictor, as it is a direct predictor of the deviation of player i from average. As such, a BLUP for temperament has already been used with fish in Behavioural Ecology to characterize individual propensity to take risks (Magnhagen & Bunnefeld, 2009).

However, the aim is to compare game behaviour with real-life behaviour, which was assessed in conditions in which socio-demographic variables are also attached to players (that is, people were observed behaving in their village environment and they answered village-scale questions, and gender and education are inseparable from the individual). Given the distribution of temperament estimators $(C_{individual_i})_{i \in [1..317]}$, individuals are associated with a individual rank within that distribution. As gender, village and education effects belong to the fitted GLMM, adding each variable results in significant changes in the distribution. However, our focus lies in differences between individuals, so that individual ranks in the distribution are particularly important. We tested whether including socio-demographic variables had a significant impact on the individual ranks in the distribution of individual attributes estimators.

The impact of adding separately each socio-demographic variable to the temperament BLUPs was tested through a Student t-test (for gender effect), an ANOVA coupled with a LSD test (for village effect), and a linear regression (for education effect). The overall effect of adding the three variables to the temperament BLUP was measured with a t-test on the mean absolute individual rank variation before/after adding them. We decided to include the three socio-demographic variables to compute individual attributes estimator for player i as:

$$P_i = C_{village_i} + C_{gender} * gender_i + C_{education} * education_i + C_{individual_i} , i \in [1..317]$$

Baseline player. To measure an individual's deviance from average, a baseline player was defined as a reference for comparison. The baseline player is therefore a virtual player with neutral characteristics. We set village and individual random effects to zero, *i.e.* average since they both follow normal distributions, gender effect to the mean between men and women effects, and education effect to the effect for the mean level of education of the sample $\overline{education}$. We will denote P_0 the individual attributes estimator for the baseline player.

Micro-situational settings estimator

Micro-situational settings must reflect conditions in which individuals make decisions and take actions in real-life.

- Communication. Except the control treatment, all treatments allowed communication in the group between rounds. Analysing the response of players to incentives implies comparing individual behaviour under incentive treatments and under a baseline treatment. We chose to set the peer-pressure treatment as the baseline treatment to compare incentive treatments to, because it allows to control for communication among players and reflect the existence of communication in real-life.
- C_{round} is the BLUE of the round played. On average, fish extraction was found to increase round after round during a game (Travers *et al.*, 2011), which is a common CPR game observation (Ostrom, 2000). A limited time horizon is predicted to reduce cooperation if players apply backward induction (Gintis, 2000), culminating with a peak of free-riding during the final round (Ostrom, 2000). At the same time, it is suggested that experience acquired by players has a positive impact for cooperation (Ostrom, 2000). Given these two observations, we decided to set a neutral setting for round effect. We averaged for the treatment j we are focusing on, the BLUEs for round r effects and the BLUEs for the interactions between round r and treatment j over the five rounds of a game. The mean round effect for Treatment j was thus:

$$\frac{1}{5}\sum_{r=0}^{5} (C_{round_r} + C_{treatment_j*round_r})$$

• $C_{decision}$ is the BLUE of whether a decision was taken. When group communication was allowed, reaching an agreement was found to significantly increase cooperation (Travers *et al.*, 2011). As the proportion of rounds in which a decision was made depended on the treatment implemented and the game round, but as we could not include interaction terms between decision and round or treatment (*cf.* Appendix A, Table A.1, for details), we accounted for the decision effect by weighting $C_{decision}$ with the proportion of rounds where a decision was made under Treatment *j*:

$\frac{\#(\text{Decision rounds})_j}{\#\text{Rounds}_j}$

- $C_{previous}$ and C_{day} are the BLUEs of the respective effects of the treatment played just before the current treatment, and of the day the session was held. The previous treatment effect was found for strong self-regulation treatments to increase subsequent cooperation, suggesting norm internalization, while cooperation decreased after the first day of the experiment in each village, suggesting leakage in the village (Travers *et al.*, 2011). Therefore we set the previous treatment and day effects to their baseline (*i.e.* estimators equal to zero), to control for these two effects.
- C_{group} is the BLUP of group effect. We set group effect to zero, meaning that individual behaviour will be measured as if individuals were playing in an average group.
- $C_{intercept}$ is the GLMM intercept BLUE. It is the remaining unexplained effect, therefore it could be attributed to players, micro-situational settings or the broader context. As it is common to all players, we included it in micro-situational settings.
- $C_{treatment_j}$ is the BLUE of Treatment j. However, treatment also acts through interaction terms between round and treatment, and through the proportion of decisions made under the treatment. That is why we accounted for the treatment effect by comparison with the baseline micro-situational settings.

Baseline micro-situational settings. Let us denote S_j as the micro-situational settings estimator for treatment j, that we obtain by aggregating micro-situational settings estimators and predictors as described above:

$$S_{j} = \frac{1}{5} \sum_{r=0}^{5} (C_{round_{r}} + C_{treatment_{j}*round_{r}}) + C_{decision} * \frac{\#(\text{Decision rounds})_{j}}{\text{Rounds}_{j}} + C_{intercept} + C_{treatment_{j}}$$

Then S_1 is the baseline micro-situational settings estimator. Let us denote T_j as the additional effect of treatment j compared to the peer-pressure treatment, then:

$$T_j = S_j - S_1$$

Defined as such, the sign of T_j directly indicates the effect of treatment j on individual fish extraction, which is increased (respectively decreased) if treatment jeffect T_j is positive (respectively negative).

Table 5.1 summarises how individual attributes and micro-situational settings estimators were built from the fitted GLMM estimators and predictors.

Estimator		:	Variables						
Individual attributes		:	Village	,	Gender	,	Education	,	Individual
Player $i, i \in [1317]$	P_i	=	$C_{village_i}$	+	$C_{gender} * gender_i$	+	$C_{education} * education_i$	+	$C_{individual_i}$
Baseline player	P_0	=	0	+	$rac{C_{gender}}{2}$	+	$C_{education} * \overline{education}$	+	0
Micro-situational settings		:	Round	,	Decision	,	Previous+Day+Group+Intercept	,	Treatment
Treatment j settings, $j \in [08]$	S_j	=	$\frac{1}{5} \sum_{r=0}^{5} \begin{pmatrix} C_{round_r} + \\ C_{treatment_j * round_r} \end{pmatrix}$	+	$\frac{C_{decision}*}{\frac{\#(\text{Decision rounds})_j}{\text{Rounds}_j}}$	+	$C_{intercept}$	+	$C_{treatment_j}$
Baseline M-S Settings	S_1								
Treatment j effect, $j \in [08]$	T_j	=	$S_j - S_1$						

Table 5.1: Definition of individual attributes and micro-situational settings estimators from GLMM estimators and predictors.

5.1.3 Individual fish extraction

Estimators and predictors were the ouptut of a fitted GLMM with a logit link function. Therefore, for each fish player i has the opportunity to extract under treatment j, the probability that player i does so is:

$$\pi(P_i, T_j) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-(P_i + T_j + S_1)}}$$
, which we will denote: π_{ij}

The number of fish extracted by player *i* under treatment *j* then follows a $\mathcal{B}(10, \pi_{ij})$ binomial law (Zuur *et al.*, 2009). We defined two absolute indicators of individual fish extraction: expected fish extraction, and the probabilities of extracting more, fewer or as many fish as the baseline player.

Expected fish extraction

Expected fish extraction $f(P_i, T_j)$ for player *i* under treatment *j* is the expected value of $\mathcal{B}(10, \pi_{ij})$. Expected fish extraction $f(\cdot, \cdot)$ is thus:

$$f: \left| \begin{array}{cccc} \mathbb{R} & \times & \mathbb{R} & \longrightarrow & [0;10] \\ (P_i & , & T_j) & \longmapsto & 10 * \pi_{ij} \end{array} \right|$$

which we will denote more conveniently: f_{ij} .

Probabilities of extracting more, fewer or as many fish as the baseline player

Players have a discrete set of choices $\{0, 1, ..., 10\}$. While expected fish extraction is a continuous variable with values in [0;10], we accounted for the discrete nature of fish extraction by defining for player *i*, the probability of extracting more fish than the baseline player under treatment *j*, $p_{sup}(i, j)$.

Let X_{ij} be the fish extraction random variable for player *i* under treatment *j*. Then:

$$p_{sup}: \begin{vmatrix} \mathbb{R} & \times & \mathbb{R} & \longrightarrow & [0;1] \\ (P_i & , & T_j) & \longmapsto & P[X_{ij} > X_{0j}] \end{vmatrix}, \text{ denoted } P_{sup_{ij}}$$

Hence:

$$p_{sup_{ij}} = \sum_{k=0}^{9} \sum_{l=k+1}^{10} P[X_{0j} = k] * P[X_{ij} = l]$$
$$p_{sup_{ij}} = \sum_{k=0}^{9} \sum_{l=k+1}^{10} {10 \choose k} \pi_{0j}^{k} (1 - \pi_{0j})^{(10-k)} * {10 \choose l} \pi_{ij}^{l} (1 - \pi_{ij})^{(10-l)}$$

Similarly, we defined the probabilities of extracting less fish than and as many fish as the baseline player, respectively $p_{inf_{ij}}$ and $p_{eq_{ij}}$.

Indicator selection

To select the best indicator among the two individual fish extraction indicators, we computed their distributions for all players under baseline settings, then calculated the shape parameters of the distributions, and simulated confidence intervals for each point.

We estimated confidence intervals using the 'arm' package version 1.6-06.01 (Gelman & Su, 2013). Confidence intervals for GLMM fixed effects are not available with the 'lme4' package, as they would require advanced bayesian inference techniques (Bates, 2010). The 'arm' package approximates GLMM fixed effect structure to a normal one. We used it to simulate (n = 1000 times) the fitted GLMM, then computed for each player and each GLMM simulation the two fish extraction indicators, and finally extracted for each player and each indicator 2.5 and 97.5 percentiles of the 1000-point distribution. As the 'arm' package assumes normal distributions both for fixed effects and random effects, distributions for each player and each indicator are theoretically symmetric, so the interval between percentiles 2.5 and 97.5 can be used as a 95% confidence interval.

This method provides confidence intervals that are approximate. Nevertheless, it is useful to compare the magnitude of confidence intervals of the two fish extraction indicators.

5.1.4 Individual Sensitivity to Treatments

To analyse individual response to incentives, we defined the function $\delta(\cdot, \cdot)$ that computes the gap between player *i*'s fish extraction under treatment *j* and under baseline settings:

$$\delta : \begin{vmatrix} \mathbb{R} & \times & \mathbb{R} & \longrightarrow & [0; 10] \\ (P_i & , & T_j) & \longmapsto & f_{ij} - f_{i1} \end{vmatrix}, \text{ denoted } \delta_{ij}$$

As the effect of treatment $j T_j$ is characterized by a single predictor, all players are expected to decrease (increase) their fish extraction if the effect of treatment j is negative (positive). As a consequence, though response to treatment j is not uniform due to non-linearity of the expected fish extraction function, this response has a sign common to all players.

Therefore, we defined individual sensitivity to treatment j by comparing individual response to treatment j with the baseline player's response to the same treatment. $\Delta(P_i, T_j)$ is the difference between the gap defined above for player iunder treatment j, and for the baseline player under treatment j:

$$\Delta: \begin{vmatrix} \mathbb{R} & \times & \mathbb{R} & \longrightarrow & [0;10] \\ (P_i & , & T_j) & \longmapsto & \delta_{ij} - \delta_{0j} \end{vmatrix}, \text{ denoted } \Delta_{ij}$$

Properties

A formal analysis of $\Delta(\cdot, \cdot)$ was performed with Matlab version v7.14.0.739 (The MathWorks Inc., 2012). Variations and root values of $\Delta(\cdot, T_j)$ were found to fall within five configurations, dependent on the treatment effect T_j . Details on the five cases are available in Appendix B.

When the effect of treatment j reduces fish extraction $(T_j < 0)$, individual sensitivity to treatment j first decreases then increases with individual attributes estimator P_i . Three domains can be identified, which are illustrated in Figure 5.1:

• Players expected to extract less than the baseline player $(P_i < P_0)$: they are expected to extract less than the baseline player, under the baseline settings and therefore under treatment j as well (because treatment effect does not affect expected fish extraction ranks), although their deviation from the baseline player is reduced under treatment j ($\Delta_{ij} > 0 \& P_i < 0$). These players are cooperative in both settings.

- Players expected to extract more than the baseline player, but below a threshold dependent on the effect of treatment j ($P_0 < P_i < -2 * S_1 - T_j - P_0$): they are expected to extract more than the baseline player in both settings, but get closer under treatment j, as they are expected to reduce fish extraction more than the baseline player ($\Delta_{ij} < 0 \& P_i > 0$). These players are therefore particularly sensitive to the incentive for cooperation.
- Players expected to extract more than treatment j threshold $(P_i > -2 * S_1 - T_j - P_0)$: they are expected to extract more fish than the baseline player in both settings, and increase their fish extraction relative to the baseline player ($\Delta_{ij} > 0 \& P_i > 0$). These players show no sign of cooperation.

This behavioural interpretation is consistent with the common categorisation of players behaviour described earlier (*cf.* "Categorisation of players", Background chapter, section 2.2, subsection 2.2.2). Therefore it allows us to define, for a treatment that reduces fish extraction, a dummy variable $\Delta_{cat}(\cdot, j)$ that categorises players according to their sensitivity: unconditional cooperators (UC), conditional cooperators (CC) and free-Riders (F). As this categorisation takes into account both the values of sensitivity to treatment and individual attributes estimator, it is an indicator of both responsiveness to treatment and cooperativeness under the treatment.

Treatment selection

Two treatments were representative of real-life institutional arrangements under which we assessed real-life behaviour.

Treatment 3 implemented a strongly enforced penalty rule (*i.e.* with a high economic penalty). Although PLUP boundary enforcement in the PAs was suggested not to be highly efficient (Winney, 2011), it led to an actual reduction in illegal land clearance cases in the study area after PLUP implementation (Clements,



Figure 5.1: Illustration of sensitivity to treatment versus individual attributes estimator curve, in the case of a treatment that reduces fish extraction (T < 0). The curve was computed with empirical values, including $T = T_4$ (individual positive incentives Treatment), except P_0 which was set to -0.1 for illustrative purposes. Three domains are highlighted, in which players are interpreted as unconditional cooperators (UC), conditional cooperators (CC) and free-Riders (F).

2012). As treatment 2, which consisted in a low penalty rule, was shown to entail an increase in fish extraction in the game (Clements *et al.*, 2011), treatment 3 was the best proxy for the PLUP restrictions set in the study area.

Treatment 4 implemented individual, externally provided economic incentves. As this study focuses on individual behaviour, and that the three PES schemes of the study area included individual payments, treatment 4 was chosen as the proxy for the PES schemes.

Hence, individual sensitivities were computed for treatment 3 and 4 in accordance with the method detailed previously, that is, respectively sensitivity to positive incentives and sensitivity to penalty rules. The effects of treatment 3 and 4 fall in the range of treatments such that $T_j < 0$, which enables us to define players types according to the UC-CC-F categorisation as described in the previous subsection. We, therefore, computed the categorical variables player type under positive incentives and player type under penalty rules associated respectively with treatments 3 and 4. The player categorisation was applied the same way to the baseline settings by extrapolation to $T_j = 0$ of player types under negative treatment effect (cf. Appendix B for a justification of the extrapolation).

Selfish defection

Selfish defection was defined as the proportion of cases where player i chose to extract more fish than the group decided, when a group-decision was made. This indicator was associated with a number of disadvantages, in particular because players did not all have the same opportunity to defect, which depended not only on the existence of a group-decision, but also on the value the group chose. Nevertheless, the correlation between selfish defection and expected fish extraction was tested to confirm the validity of expected fish extraction of an indicator of cooperativeness.

Table 5.2 summarises the game indicators that were defined and the behaviour they target.

5.2 Individual real-life behaviour

Real-life behaviour was assessed through observed behaviour and responses to surveys. Data sources and data collection methods reported here are reported based on a more detailed description by Clements (2012). Real-life behaviour variables are summarised in Table 5.2.

5.2.1 Observed behaviour

Illegal land clearance

Household land clearance was the only individual-level indicator of rule compliance that could be measured (*cf.* table 3.1). Land clearance was monitored at household level from the 1st of January, 2008 to the 31st of December, 2010. As the PLUP in the four villages was agreed on in 2008, illegal land clearance outside the boundaries specified by the PLUP was monitored subsequently for two years. Four sources of information reported household illegal land clearance: i) village committees, that were in charge of land-use boundaries management and definition, ii) WCS teams assisting village committees, iii) research teams collecting data on the field and iv) PA rangers taking action around the study villages. Although cases of illegal land clearance were confirmed both by the village committee and through a second field visit, the reliability of the data could have been weakened by non-reported cases, as the quality of the PLUP enforcement was questionable (Winney, 2011). We defined household *illegal land clearance* as a binary variable observed for the whole population of the study area.

PES participation

Response to economic incentives was measured through individual PES participation, defined as a binary variable: *PES participation* is true when the household was involved in at least one of the three PES programmes, for at least one year, up to and including 2010. Over that time, Bird Nest and Ibis Rice programs were implemented in two villages, and all three programs were implemented to the other two villages, so that all players had a high, though not equal, opportunity to be involved in a PES program. On the one hand, this variable had the merit of providing a balanced sample (116 participants versus 91 non-participants), and allowed to gather enrollment in conservation actions under one variable, while splitting it into three variables would have created unbalanced samples and demanded to apply corrections on correlation tests to account for the multiplication of hypotheses, which both would have considerably decreased the ability to detect linkages. Moreover, a continuous variable such as the amount of money earned through PES participation would have included a higher selection bias, as for instance revenues earned through the Ibis Rice programme were dependent on farmers' land and equipment. On the other hand, this variable also included a selection bias due to non-eqal opportunity to be involved in two programmes: the Eco-tourism programme (only two villages among four, and a abnormally high proportion of participants held a position in these two villages) and the Ibis Rice programme (requirements for entering the programme excluded poor farmers).

5.2.2 Stated behaviour

Semi-structured interviews were performed in a subset of households in the study villages by the Center for Development Orientated Research into Agriculture and Livelihood Systems (CENTDOR) between December 2009 and January 2010. Interviewers were not known to the villagers. Topics included attitudes toward conservation, the PES programmes, perception of stakeholders, and social norms.

We built dummy variables based on questions related to three relevant topics. Each variable was computed as an index ranging between 0 and 1 by aggregating and normalizing the answers to several questions. For example, to compute Index A from questions B and C whose answer values are indices respectively in [0..b] and [0..c], we computed $A = \frac{c * B + b * C}{b * c}$. A is therefore an index in [0..1] in which B and C have an equal weight.

Interpersonal Trust

The survey included three yes/no questions related to interpersonal trust:

• "Generally speaking, would you say that most people in the village can be

trusted or that you can't be too careful in dealing with people?"

- "Do you think most people in the Village would try to take advantage of you if they got a chance, or would they try to be fair?"
- "Would you say that most of the time, people in the village try to be helpful, or that they are mostly just looking out for themselves?"

These three questions are part of the General Social Survey (GSS) that has been carried out extensively in the United States from 1972 (National Opinion Reseach Center, 2013), and of the World Values Survey that has been conducted later on from 1981 in about a hundred societies in the six inhabited continents (World Values Survey, 2013). Previous research has provided evidence that interpersonal trust measured by the three questions was correlated with actual individual behaviour such as firearm crime (Kennedy *et al.*, 1998), civic engagement (Brehm & Rahn, 1997), or communication (Fisman & Khanna, 1999).

We defined *interpersonal trust* variable as the aggregate normalized index of the answers to these three questions.

Perception of authorities

It has been suggested that trust in authorities could be an extension of interpersonal trust (Brehm & Rahn, 1997). Besides, compliance with rules has been shown to be strongly correlated to monitoring efficiency in the case of illegal hunting (Leader-Williams & Milner-Gulland, 1993), which suggests a link between rule compliance and effectiveness of monitoring institutions. That led us to focus on two questions of the survey about individuals perception of authorities: opinion on village committee (between 0 and 2) and perception of PA rangers' effectiveness (between 0 and 3). We defined *perception of authorities* variable aggregating and normalizing the answers to the two questions.

Opinion on conservation interventions

For each PES scheme, the survey included questions on the PES scheme fairness (yes/no), its benefits for the people involved (yes/no), for their own household

(yes/no) and for the whole village (between 0 and 2). *opinion on PES* is the aggregate, normalized index of the 12 questions.

People were asked their opinion on the PLUP process (good/bad), and on the benefits it brought to the village (between 0 and 2). *opinion on PLUP* is the aggregate normalized index of the two answers.

We defined *opinion on conservation interventions* as the aggregate normalized index of *opinion on PES* and *opinion on PLUP*.

Game								
Targeted behaviour	Settings	Indicator		Symbol	Data type	Value range		
Cooperativeness Any treatment		Expected fish	extraction	$f(\cdot,j)$	Continuous	[0;10]		
	Any treatment	Probability t	o extract more	$p_{sup}(\cdot,j)$	Continuous	[0;1]		
		fish than the	baseline player					
	-	Selfish defect	ion	-	Proportional	[0;1]		
Responsiveness to incentives	Any except baseline	Sensitivity		$\Delta(\cdot,j)$	Continuous	[0;10]		
Both	Any treatment	Player type		$\Delta_{cat}(\cdot,j)$	Categorical	${\rm UC, CC, F}$		
Real life								
Targeted behaviour	Variable type	Indicator		Indicator		Data type	Value range	
Response to positive incentives	Observed	PES particip	ation	Binary	$\{0,1\}$			
Rule compliance		Illegal land c	learance	Binary	$\{0,1\}$			
Preferences	Stated	Interpersonal	trust	Proportional discrete	[0;1]			
		Perception of authorities		Proportional discrete	[0;1]			
			PES	Proportional discrete	[0;1]			
		Opinion on \langle	PLUP	Proportional discrete	[0;1]			
			Both	Proportional discrete	[0;1]			

Table 5.2: Summary of individual behaviour indicators

5.3 Correlation between individual game and reallife behaviours

5.3.1 Data Matching

The two databases that provided individual player data and real-life household data did not include a common and unique identifier for individuals/households. Individuals were matched based on variables present in both databases. We added a confidence index to every match we found, and kept only players matched with high confidence, who were 207 in the whole set of 317 players. As the real-life database provided data at household level, matched players' behaviour in real-life was proxied by the behaviour of the household they belonged to.

Among the 207 players for whom real-life data was available, all of them were associated with land-clearance behaviour and PES participation, except two players for whom land-clearance behaviour was set to Non Assessed as it was reported to be unclear. The survey was answered by 91 players. Counts of players associated with real-life variables are provided in Table 5.3.

5.3.2 Subset representativeness

Due to incomplete overlaps between datasets, correlation tests were run for subsets of various sizes. The representativeness of subset means (for continuous variables) and proportions (for categorical and binary variables), and the representativeness of the subset distributions were assessed through Welch t-tests, Pearson χ^2 tests and Kolmogorov-Smirnoff tests respectively. Detailed results are provided in Appendix D, Table D.1. No significant differences were found between the subsamples and whole samples, both for means and proportions and for distributions. The only exception was the opinion on PLUP, which was lower on average in the subsample (0.35 on average for 91 players) than in the whole sample (0.43 on average for 192 players; t = -2.01, d.f. = 186.7, p = 0.046). This might have stemmed from the limited number of levels accessible to players for this index (5 levels in [0; 1]), that could have exaggerated the opinion gap between datasets.

5.3.3 Correlation analysis

Correlation tests between the selected game and real-life indicators were finally performed. Table 5.3 summarises the tests and associated hypotheses we expected to be positive. Statistical tests included Welch t-tests, Pearson χ^2 tests, Analyses of Variance (ANOVAs) and linear regressions that were run with the 'stats' package version 2.14.1, and positive results for ANOVAs were further analysed through Least Significant Difference (LSD) tests with the 'agricolae' package version 1.1-1 (de Mendiburu, 2012).

More comprehensive analyses were also undertaken: each indicator was modelled taking all others into account, that is, both real-life and game variables. We used stepwise backward selection on linear regressions to model continuous variables (with the 'stats' package version 2.14.1), on generalized linear models with binomial link function to model binary variables (with the 'lme4' package version 0.999375-42; Bates, 2010) and on multinomial logistic regression to model categorical variables (with the 'nnet' package version 7.3-1; Ripley, 2013).

				Game	e behaviour in	dicator
Real-life indicator		$Obs.^1$	j^2	Cooperation Response to incentive		Player type
				$f(\cdot, j)$	$\Delta(\cdot, j)$	$\Delta_{cat}(\cdot, j)$
PES participa	ation	207	4	$H1_1$	$H1_2$	$H1_1 \& H1_2$
Illegal land cl	earance	205	3	$H2_1$	$H2_2$	$H2_1 \& H2_2$
(PES	91	4	$H3_{a1}$	$H3_{a2}$	$H3_{a1} \& H3_{a2}$
Opinion on {	PLUP	91	3	$H3_{b1}$	$H3_{b2}$	$H3_{b1} \& H3_{b2}$
l	Both	91	1	$H3_c$	-	$H3_c$
Perception of	authorities	91	3/4	$H4_1$	$H4_2$	$H4_1 \& H4_2$
Interpersonal	trust	91	1	H5	-	H5

Table 5.3: Summary of correlation tests and associated hypotheses. Hypothesis numbers refer to hypotheses described in Table 4.1.

 1 Counts of players for whom each real-life indicator was computed

 2 Treatment under which the correlations are expected:

1: T1 (Baseline); 3: T3 (individual penalty rule); 4: T4 (individual positive incentive)

Chapter 6

Results

6.1 Individual game behaviour

6.1.1 Socio-demographic variables

Descriptive demographics

The set of n = 317 players used to compute game behaviour is characterized by near-parity (50.5% of men, 49.5% of women), and an almost equal distribution among villages (25.2% of players living in Tmatboey, 24.9% living in each of the three other villages). Time spent in education ranged from none to 12 years, with a mean of 2.49 years. A large proportion of players did not spent any time in education (42.6%). A large proportion received few education (41.3% spent less than five years, included, in education), while only 16.1% spent six years or more in education.

Influence on individual attributes estimator

Given the distribution of temperament BLUPs $(C_{individual_i})_{i \in [1..317]}$, individuals are associated with an individual rank within that distribution.

The BLUE for gender predicts that women extract significantly fewer fish. We found that adding gender to temperament shifted women on average 15.2 ranks toward the bottom of the distribution, and men 15.0 ranks toward to top (Table 6.1).

Once gender effect was added to temperament, women were ranked significantly lower than men in the distribution (Welch t-test, t = 2.40, d.f. = 315.0, p = 0.017).

Similarly, the village BLUPs predict that players living in Dangphlat extract fewer fish than average, while players living in Tmatboey, Narong or Prey Veng extract more than average. Variation in absolute rank generated by adding the village effect to temperament BLUPs ranged from -104.3 ranks for Dangphlat to +65.0 ranks for Narong. It resulted in individual ranks significantly different between villages (F(3, 313) = 89.39, p < 0.001): on average players living in Narong were ranked significantly higher than players living in Prey Veng and Tmatboey, themselves significantly higher than players living in Dangphlat (Narong: 224.7, Prey Veng: 181.3, Tmatboey: 173.3, Dangphlat: 56.6, Least Significant Difference: 21.1).

The BLUE for education predicts that each year spent in education increases individual fish extraction. Adding education effect to temperament BLUPs shifted players without any education of -9.4 ranks on average, and shifted educated players of +1.4 ranks per year spent in education. Once education was added, a linear regression of ranks versus education showed that the effect was significant (F(1, 315) = 2.95, d.f. = 315, p = 0.003).

The addition of all three variables simultaneously to temperament BLUPs led to a mean absolute variation in ranks equal to 54.5, for which all the effects mentioned previously remain significant (linear regression with ranks as response variable, d.f. = (5, 311), Women: t = -2.73, p = 0.007, Education: t = 2.52, t = .012, Danghplat: t = -10.0, p < 0.001, Narong: t = 4.24, p < 0.001).

	Variable	Mean rank variation
Gender	Men	+15.0
	Women	-15.2
Village	Tmatboey	+16.1
	Dangphlat	-104.3
	Narong	+65.0
	Prey Veng	+23.1
Education	No education	-9.4
	Mean per year	+1.4
	Variable	Mean absolute rank variation
Gender +	Village + Education	54.5

Table 6.1: Individual rank variation generated by the addition of sociodemographic variables to temperament BLUPs distribution (n=317 players).

6.1.2 Individual fish extraction

Expected fish extraction versus

Probability of extracting more than the baseline player.

Comparison between the two functions showed that they generated moderate shape transformations, though the probability indicator tended to highlight extreme players at the expense of average ones. Moreover, the interpretation of variations in the probability indicator value was delicate, because Treatment effects were harder to detect, and because a variation in the probability of extracting more fish than the baseline player was dependent on the variations in two other indicators (probabilities of extracting fewer fish and as many fish as the baseline player). So that opposite variations in the probability indicator could *not* be interpreted directly as actual opposite effects. The detailed comparative analysis of the two indicators is provided in Appendix C.

These two conclusions suggested that expected fish extraction was a more robust indicator coupled with a more straightforward interpretation. Therefore, it was selected as the game indicator for cooperation to test against real-life behaviour.



Figure 6.1: Expected fish extraction versus individual attributes estimator, plotted under three different micro-situational settings: baseline, individual penalty rule (T3) and individual positive incentive (T4). T3 and T4 curves are nearly indistinguishable.

Expected fish extraction

Characteristic values The baseline player was found to be characterised by an individual attributes estimator $P_0 = -0.01$ close to the mean estimator of the distribution. The difference between the two is actually indistinguishable at precision 10^{-2} . Under the baseline micro-situational settings, expected fish extraction is found to range from 0.36 to 8.81 fish from the possible [0;10] interval. Table 6.2 presents some characteristic values of individual attributes estimator and expected fish extraction. The effects of the two treatments of interest, *i.e.* individual positive incentives and individual penalty rule led the baseline player to reduce her extraction from 4.36 fish under the Baseline settings to 3.47 (respectively 3.51) fish under penalty rule treatment (respectively positive incentive treatment, Figure 6.1).

6.1.3 Sensitivity to treatments

Treatment effect is characterised by a single estimator T_j . In this model the sign of T_j determines the qualitative impact on extraction, which is common to all players

Variable		i^1	Individual attributes estimator				
		J	Lower $min_i(P_i)$	Upper $max_i(P_i)$	$\frac{\text{Mean}}{\overline{P_i}}$	Baseline P_0	
Individual attributes estimator	P_i	-	-3.06	+2.24	-0.01	-0.01	
Expected fish extraction	f_{ij}	1	0.36	8.81	4.37	4.36	
		3	0.25	8.35	3.47	3.47	
		4	0.25	8.38	3.52	3.51	

Table 6.2: Characteristic values for individual attributes estimator and associated expected fish extraction under the three micro-situational settings of interest (n=317 players).

¹ Treatment. 1: Baseline settings, 3: Individual Positive Incentives, 4: Indivisual Penalty Rule

(Table 6.3). In particular, individual penalty rule and individual positive incentive treatments were found to generate a reduction in expected fish extraction for all players (Table 6.3, Figure 6.1).

Sensitivity to treatments variable accounts for the non-uniformity of individual responses to treatments (illustrated by the variable gap between the treatments and the baseline curves in Figure 6.1).

Empirically, all treatments that introduced strong incentives for cooperation were found to achieve an actual reduction in expected fish extraction (high individual penalty rule, individual positive incentives, communal positive incentives with strong payment conditionality; negative values in Table 6.3). Under these circumstances, the associated sensitivities to treatments curves are convex, displaying a minimum for the players *expected to reduce most* their fish extraction under each treatment (Figure 6.3). Compared to the baseline player, who is also expected to reduce her fish extraction, they are expected to achieve a stronger reduction (they fit into the fraction of the distribution associated with a negative sensitivity to treatment). Please note that zero sensitivity do *not* mean the player is not

Table 6.3: Treatment effects. Positive (Negative): all players are expected to increase (decrease) their individual fish extraction. Bold cases highlight the treatments of interest.

Treatment	Treatment	effect
Baseline	T1 =	0
Low enforcement	T2 =	+0.42
High enforcement ¹	T3 =	-0.38
External individual ²	T4 =	-0.36
Internal individual	T5 =	-0.38
Weak communal	T6 =	+0.33
Low communal	T7 =	-0.61
High communal	T8 =	-0.57
Control	T0 =	+0.52

¹ Individual penalty rule treatment

² Individual positive incentives treatment

affected by the treatment, but rather that its behaviour matches the behaviour of the baseline player.

Treatments providing low incentives for cooperation were found to actually increase expected fish extraction (low individual penalty rule, communal payments with weak conditionality, Table 6.3), as well as the interdiction of communication (control treatment). Sensitivities to treatment are concave in this case, and the range of empirical treatment effect values was such that most sensitive players, associated with positive sensitivities in this case, behaved nearly as the baseline player (sensitivities are close to zero).

The distribution of player types according to individual sensitivity to individual positive incentives and penalty rule is plotted in Figure 6.3 (Right figures). We found that 143 players, or 45.1% of the sample were identified as unconditional cooperators, under baseline settings as well as under individual penalty rule and individual positive incentive treatments (Table 6.4). The effect of both treatments incited a number of free-riders to become conditional cooperators: the proportion of free-riders decreased from 29.0% under baseline settings to 15.5% (respectively

15.8%) under individual positive incentives (respectively under individual penalty rule), whereas the proportion of conditional cooperators increased from 25.9% under baseline settings to 39.4% (respectively 39.1%) with individual positive incentives (respectively individual penalty rule).



Figure 6.2: Sensitivities to treatments versus individual attributes estimator. Figures computed for the whole set of players (n = 317), with $P_0 = -0.01$, $S_1 = -0.24$.

Left: all treatments, as defined in Table 3.4. The color gradient was defined from red for increase in expected fish extraction to green for reduction. Treatment 3 (individual penalty rule) and treatment 4 (individual positive incentives) effects are nearly indistinguishable.

Right: individual positive incentives (top) and individual penalty rule (bottom) treatments. These two treatments allow the definition of three categories of players delimited by the dashed vertical lines: UC= unconditional cooperative, CC= conditional cooperative, F= free-riders.

Table 6.4: Counts and proportions of player types under baseline settings, and under individual positive incentives and individual penalty rule treatments (n = 317).

		$Player type^2$							
Treatment	T_j^{-1}	C	Counts		Prop	ortions	(%)		
		UC	CC	F	UC	$\mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}$	F		
Baseline settings	$T_1 = 0$	143	82	92	45.1	25.9	29.0		
Individual positive incentives	$T_4 = -0.36$	143	124	50	45.1	39.4	15.5		
Individual penalty rule	$T_3 = -0.38$	143	125	49	45.1	39.1	15.8		

 1 Treatment effect.

 2 UC: unconditional cooperator, CC: conditional cooperator, F: free-rider.

6.1.4 Indicators interpretation

The expected fish extraction indicator is interpreted as a measure of cooperation, while sensitivity to treatment measures the response to treatments.

The analysis showed that expected fish extraction (under individual penalty rule treatment) was strongly correlated with selfish defection as described in the Methods part (linear regression, F(1, 304) = 100, p < 0.001), which confirms that expected fish extraction reflects cooperative behaviour.

ANOVAs performed on expected fish extraction for the three types of players unsurprisingly showed that expected fish extraction was strongly correlated with player types (e.g. under individual positive incentives, F(2, 314) = 821, p < 0.001), and LSD tests subsquent to the ANOVAs added that differences between all pairs of groups were significant (e.g. mean extraction under individual positive incentives, UC : 2.13, CC : 4.42, F : 6.67, LSD : 0.22). Similar tests on sensitivities to treatments yielded similar results: strong correlation with player types (e.g. individual positive incentives, F(2, 314) = 135, p < 0.001), and significant differences between all groups (e.g. mean sensitivity to individual positive incentives, CC : -0.03, F : 0.12, UC : 0.22, LSD : 0.04).

More importantly, the mean group values confirm that players sensitive to a trea-



Figure 6.3: Expected fish extraction versus sensitivity to treatment, under individual positive incentives treatment. Expected fish extraction measures individual cooperativeness under the treatment, while sensitivity measures responsiveness to positive incentives. The crosses locate the means for unconditional cooperators (UC), conditional cooperators (CC), and free-riders (F). X-values and Y-values for the three groups are all significantly different. The origin is set to the indicators value of the baseline player.

ment and cooperative players under the same treatment are not the same ones. Player categorisation, therefore, combines both interpretations, as UC players are distinct from CC and F players in terms of cooperation, and CC players are distinct from UC and F players in terms of response to treatments. Figure 6.3 shows the mean cooperativeness/responsiveness behaviour of the three groups under individual positive incentives.

However, player type is a categorical variable whereas expected fish extraction and sensitivity to treatment are continuous. It has been suggested that categorical variables might be weaker than continuous variables for correlation tests when testing external validity of lab experiments (Laury & Taylor, 2008).
6.2 Individual real-life behaviour

6.2.1 PES participation

Among the 207 players matched with high confidence, therefore for whom data on PES participation was available, 116 (56.0%) were involved in at least one PES scheme for at least one year before, and including, 2010. Among the participants, 26.7% had taken part in the Bird Nest protection programme, 57.8% in the Ibis Rice programme, and 48.7% in the Eco-tourism programme in the two villages where it was implemented. Let us note that in the two villages where the Eco-tourism programme was implemented, 21.5% of the PES participants were involved only in the Eco-tourism programme. We are aware that players from the two sets of villages did not have the same opportunity to get involved in PES schemes; however the non-availability of the Eco-tourism programme might have had a positive impact on enrollment in the Ibis Rice and Bird Nest programmes, so that the extent of this potential bias is unpredictable. Yet this concern is reinforced by the observation that PES participation was significantly higher for players living in the two others (37.7% and 54.7%; $\chi^2 = 15.6$, d.f. = 3, p = 0.001).

6.2.2 Illegal land clearance

Illegal land clearance cases were reported for 44 players (21.5%) among the 205 players for whom data on illegal land clearance was available. The proportions of land clearance cases in the four villages ranged from 9.9% to 30.0%, a difference whose significance was close to 5% ($\chi^2 = 7.54$, d.f. = 3, p = 0.057). Various interpretations could be put forward: rule compliance as a norm might be embedded differently among players at a village level, but the strength of rule enforcement and land clearance monitoring by the authorities might have also differed between villages.

6.2.3 Stated preferences

Opinion on conservation interventions

Opinion on PES was an index with 33 accessible levels in [0; 1]. 24 levels were actually accessed by players, and opinion indices ranged from 0.13 to 1. The distribution of values was relatively even, except for a particularly high number of players with a moderately high opinion on PES schemes (28 players associated with an index in [0.6; 0.8], while 16, 17, 13 and 17 players were respectively associated with an index in [0; 0.2], [0.2; 0.4], [0.4; 0.6] and [0.8; 1]; Figure 6.4). No isolated points were identified, though some specific levels were filled by high numbers of players (in particular, 16 players at 0.13, 11 players at 0.38 and 13 at 0.75). The mean opinion index value for the 91 players who answered the survey was 0.54.

Opinion on PLUP was an index with 5 accessible levels, evenly distributed in [0;1]. All levels were accessed by players, though the distribution was uneven. Contrary to the PES schemes, the PLUP was on average moderately negatively perceived, as 19 and 43 players (20.9% and 47.3%) were respectively associated with an opinion index of 0 and 0.25, whereas only 14, 3 and 12 players (15.4%, 3.29% and 13.2%) had an opinion index respectively equal to 0.5, 0.75 and 1 (Figure 6.4). The mean opinion on PLUP was 0.35.

Opinion on all conservations interventions. Averaging the previous indices, Opinion on all conservation interventions took 33 values in [0;1]. Most opinions were close to neutral (28 players, *i.e.* 30.8% of opinions in [0.4;0.6]; Figure 6.4). However, there were more negative opinions, as 21 (23.1%) were strongly negative (in [0;0.2]), and 21 other moderately negative (*i.e.* in[0.2;0.4]), whereas 14 (15.4%) were moderately positive (in [0.6;0.8]) and 7 (7.7%) strongly positive (in [0.8;1]). On average, the mean opinion on conservation interventions was 0.45.

Perception of authorities

Perception of authorities indices covered 10 levels in [0; 1] out of possible 11, for a mean equal to 0.57, that is, moderately positive on average. The definition of the variable might have caused a bias against strongly negative perceptions, as only one level, 0, was accessible between 0 and 0.2. What is more, only one player was associated with an perception index equal to 0. While indices were evenly distributed in [0.2; 1] (Figure 6.4), the presence of a unique strongly negative perception constituted an outlier that might need be discarded in later analysis.

Interpersonal trust

A majority of players answered positively to the GSS questions: the interpersonal trust mean index was 0.64 for 91 players, which is imputable mostly to the question about helpfulness ("Would you say that most of the time, people in the village try to be helpful, or that they are mostly just looking out for themselves?", 78% of positive answers), and to a lower extent to the other two (57.1% of positive answers to "Generally speaking, would you say that most people in the village can be trusted or that you can't be too careful in dealing with people?", and also 57.1% for "Do you think most people in the Village would try to take advantage of you if they got a chance, or would they try to be fair?"). Interpersonal trust index had four levels. Similarly to the case of authorities, one outlier was found with zero value, whereas 22 (24.2%), 51 (56.%) and 17 (18.7%) players were characterized by index values respectively equal to 0.33, 0.67 and 1 (Figure 6.4).

6.2.4 Correlations between real-life indicators

Prior to testing real-life indicators against game indicators, we looked for correlations between real-life indicators.

We found PES participation to be correlated to illegal land clearance: while 30% of players who had never been involved in PES schemes had illegally cleared land, only 14.8% of PES participants did so, and the effect was significant ($\chi^2 = 6.1$, d.f. = 1, p = 0.014). This result is in line with results from Clements (2012), who found the correlation to be true for the Ibis Rice and Eco-tourism programmes. Few correlations were found among stated preferences as well. Higher interpersonal trust was strongly associated with a higher opinion on PLUP (F(1, 89) = 9.57, p = 0.003), and by extension with a higher opinion on conservation interventions, though to a lower extent (F(1, 89) = 6.08, p = 0.016). No other statistically significant link was found within the set of variables {opinion on PES or PLUP or



Figure 6.4: Distributions of stated preferences (n = 91 players).

all conservation interventions, perception of authorities, interpersonal trust}. In addition to that, we did not find any correlation between observed behaviour variables and stated preference variables. Most notably, opinions on PES schemes and PLUP were expected to reflect intentions to get involved in PES schemes and to comply with the land-use plan. This conclusion casts doubts on the adequation between observed behaviour and stated preferences.

6.3 Correlation between game and real-life behaviour

Table 6.5 summarises the tests described in this section, including their significance, and whether they support or not the hypotheses that were formulated in Tables 4.1 and 5.3. The detailed analysis correlation patterns is provided in Appendix E.

On the one hand the continuous game indicator for responsiveness to incentives, sensitivity to treatment, could not be linked with any real-life indicator. On the other hand the game indicator for cooperativeness, expected fish extraction, provided a weak support for correlation with observed real-life variables: a strong correlation with PES participation was found (t = 2.24, d.f. = 186.4, p = 0.026; Figure 6.5, top left figure), and there appeared to be a link to illegal land clearance, though the effect was not significant (t = -1.33, d.f. = 63.3, p = 0.19; Figure 6.5, bottom left figure). In the light of this result, player categorisation strengthened these findings by identifying correlations to both observed real-life variables (with PES participation: $\chi^2 = 5.71$, d.f. = 2, p = 0.058; Figure 6.5, top right figure, with Illegal Land Clearance: $\chi^2 = 6.80$, d.f. = 2, p = 0.033; Figure 6.5, bottom right figure).

Stated preferences yielded negative results overall. No stated preference indicator supported any correlation with game variables. Nevertheless, player categorisation showed relative mean stated preferences for unconditional cooperators and freeriders that were consistent with expectations (*i.e.* for the two groups of players characterised by a wide gap of cooperativeness), suggesting that cooperativeness might play a role that requires a wide gap of cooperativeness between players, even if it was not possible to statistically confirm this observation.

It is worth underlining that the subset size highly limited the number of players for stated preferences tests. These tests took into account 91 players; the division into player types restricted the number of free-riders, conditional cooperators and unconditional cooperators down to 16 players (under individual positive incentives and penalty rule treatments), 23 players (under baseline settings) and 43 players (for the three treatments) respectively. The sample size for these tests might be partly responsible for the lack of significance associated with differences in means.

Finally, more comprehensive models for all variables were undertaken, regressing each game or real-life variable against the others. Although they confirmed the findings detailed in this section, they did not allow to identify new correlations nor to strengthen the significance of the results displayed in Table 6.5.

Table 6.5: Correlation tests significance. P-values were computed through Chisquare tests (binary variables versus player types), Welch t-tests (binary variables versus continuous variables), ANOVAs (continuous variables versus player types), and linear regressions (continuous variables versus continuous variables).

			Game behaviour indicator				
Real-life indicator		$Obs^1 j^2$		Cooperation	Response to incentive	Player type	Hyp. ³
				$f(\cdot, j)$	$\Delta(\cdot,j)$	$\Delta_{cat}(\cdot, j)$	
PES participation		207	4	0.026^{*}	0.362	$0.058^{(*)}$	H1
Illegal land clearance		205	3	0.187	0.856	0.033^{*}	H2
	PES	91	4	0.495	0.709	0.534	H3
Opinion on \langle	PLUP	91	3	0.636	0.599	0.541	
	Both	91	1	0.534	-	0.379	
Perception of authorities		90	3	0.101	0.191	0.176	H4
Interpersonal trust		90	1	0.711	-	0.168	H5

Notes: significance: $(\ast): p < 0.1$, $^\ast: p < 0.05$, $^{\ast\ast}: p < 0.01$

¹ Counts of players for whom each real-life indicator was tested against all game indicators.

² Treatment for which game indicators were computed,

1: Baseline; 3: Individual Penalty Rule; 4: Individual Positive Incentive

³ Hypothesis tested.

Green/Red: results provide evidence/no evidence to support the hypothesis.



Figure 6.5: Significant correlation patterns between game behaviour and observed real-life behaviour. PES participation (top) and illegal land clearance (bottom) are plotted against expected fish extraction (left) and player types (right). Microsituational settings for game behaviour were individual positive incentives (for PES participation) and individual penalty rule (for illegal land clearance).

Chapter 7

Discussion

7.1 An innovative method for characterising game behaviour.

The approach adopted for this thesis is innovative both through the methodology and the tools it delivers.

First, the methodology used consisted in predicting game behaviour at an individual level under selected micro-situational settings, based on a regression analysis model that accounted for a wide range of individual attributes and microsituational settings. To our knowledge, most CPR game studies have focused on cooperation at a group-level and based on raw extraction data (*e.g.* Cardenas, 2004; Ghate, Ghate & Ostrom, 2013, Gelcich *et al.*, 2013). Among the studies that have tested the external validity of CPR games (*cf.* Table 2.1), only Castillo *et al.* (2011), Hayo and Vollan (2012), Janssen *et al.* (2013) and Prediger, Vollan and Frölich (2011) have used regression models to link game behaviour and individual behaviour. The four studies have used this method to investigate the correlation between empirical CPR extraction and a real-life indicator; however, none of them has utilized regression models as a tool to predict individual extraction under selected settings. Carpenter and Seki (2011) have modelled individual conditional and unconditional cooperation in a PG game through linear regression as two individual coefficients depending on individual and group contributions. However, the experimental game they played did not involve the complex set of micro-situational variables that a CPR game played under various institutional arrangements does. As such, the methodology we developed was not based on anything similar in previous research.

Second, the approach has provided innovative tools to analyse individual game behaviour. Indeed, although individual CPR extraction has been extensively used as a proxy for cooperation in experimental games (cf. Table 2.1), we are not aware of any study developing an indicator of individual responsiveness to incentives. This indicator, as well as the player categorisation that was built from a dual cooperativeness-responsiveness characterisation does not have a match in the literature.

7.1.1 Player categorisation is plausible

Consistent figures

Various methods have been proposed in previous research to categorize players according to their cooperativeness. Althoug three types of players consistently emerge as unconditional cooperators, conditional cooperators and free-riders, protocols and thresholds of identification differ. Some do not allow to identify unconditional cooperators, also termed altruistic players (e.g. Fischbacher, Gachter & Fehr, 2001; Kocher et al., 2008), some also define "hump-shape" players who conditionally cooperate up to a certain point where they drift toward free-riding (e.g. Fischbacher, Gachter & Fehr, 2001; Rustagi, Engel & Kosfeld, 2010), and some allow for unclassified players (e.g. Boone, Declerck & Kiyonari, 2010; Kurzban & Houser, 2007). As a result, proportions of players display considerable variation across studies. Table 7.1 gives an overview of figures that can be found in the literature. In this thesis, under treatments that induce a reduction in expected fish extraction, all players who are more cooperative than the baseline player are defined as unconditional cooperators. As a consequence, the proportion of unconditional cooperators (respectively conditional cooperators) is higher (respectively lower) than in most previous papers. Nevertheless, the range of figures reported in the literature is wide enough to surround the figures found in this thesis (Ta-

Paper	Game^1		Proportions ³ (%)		
i up or	Citalité	110.	UC	CC	F
Bouma, Bulte & van Soest (2008)	TG	3	20	31	49
Fischbacher, Gachter & Fehr (2001)	PG	5	-	63	38
Rustagi, Engel & Kosfeld (2010)	2-pl CPR	5	3	79	19
Laury & Taylor (2008)	PG	3	27	46	26
Boone, Declerck & Kiyonari (2010)	PD, AG	4	30	32	38
Kurzban & Houser (2005)	PG	4	14	66	21
English (2012)	PG	3	17	45	38
Ishii & Kurzban (2008)	PG	3	3	72	25
Rodriguez-Sickert, Guzman	5-pl CPR:	3			
& Cardenas (2008)	Baseline		7	5	88
	Penalty Rule		63	17	20
Kocher $et al.$ (2008)	PG	4	-	71	29
Herrmann & Thöni (2009)	PG	4	-	90	10
This study	10-pl CPR:	3			
	Baseline		45	26	29
	$Incentives^4$		45	39	16

Table 7.1: Player categorisation in the literature

¹ Game used for categorization, AG: Assurance game, TG: Trust game, PD: Prisoner's dilemma, PG: Public goods game, "x"-pl CPR: x-player Common-pool resources game

 2 Number of categories established by the authors.

 3 Categories may not have been termed the same by the authors. For comparison between papers, proportion sums have been normalized to 100%. Sums might not be strictly equal to 100% due to round numbers.

⁴ Individual penalty rule and positive incentives yield the same figures.

ble 7.1). Let us note that although the baseline player was defined as a 'neutral' player, she is arbitrary. Therefore figures would vary if a different reference for comparison was elected instead of the baseline player.

Consistent interpretations accross treatment effects

The reasoning that was followed to categorise players with respect to their cooperativeness and responsiveness to treatments is detailed in the Methods part, in the case in which the treatment effect is negative (*i.e.* entails a reduction in fish extraction), which we extrapolated to the baseline treatment. We would argue that this reasoning can also be held for positive treatement effects, which extends the use of this method and reinforce its consistency across treatment effects. Detailed features of player categorisation depending of the treatment effect can be found in Appendix B.

When the treatment effect is positive, *i.e.* when players are expected to increase their fish extraction compared to baseline settings, players who are identified as most sensitive to the treatment can be either players extracting more than the baseline player and increasing the gap with her (moderate treatment effect; Figure 7.1, left figure), or players extracting less than the baseline player and reducing the gap with her (high treatment effect; Figure 7.1, right figure). This observation can be interpreted to categorise players as well: as the positive treatment effect increases, more players are incited to act as free-riders, and conditional cooperators, who now negatively reciprocate (whereas they positively reciprocate under negative treatment effect), are stronger cooperators. This might be interpreted in terms of crowding-out of social norms. For moderate positive treatment effects, a wide range of moderately uncooperative players are slightly drawn toward freeriding, and as the effect grows stronger, some becomes actual free-riders. Finally for sufficiently high positive treatment effects, all uncooperative players have become free-riders, and cooperative players begin to be drawn toward free-riding. In other words, as the effect inciting to increase fish extraction grows stronger, the population which is the most sensitive is a more cooperative one, *i.e.* a population in which social norms for cooperation are more strongly embedded.

Moderate treatment effects match the cases of crowding-out effects commonly reported in the literature, where a treatment designed to bring a reduction in CPR extraction does actually slightly the opposite, either through penalty rule (Cardenas, Stranlund & Willis, 2000; Vollan, 2008), or positive incentives (Narloch, Pascual & Drucker, 2012). High positive treatment effect could stem from any rule that strongly reduce cooperation. Among the nine treatments whose effects are summarised in Table 6.3, penalty rule with weak enforcement and communal payments with weak conditionality were found to be moderate treatment effects



Figure 7.1: Categorisation of players under moderate incentive to increase fish extraction (left) and strong incentive to increase fish extraction (right). As the effect grows stronger, conditional cooperators are more cooperative players, which entails first an increase in free-riders number, then a decrease in unconditional cooperators numbers. More details on the figures are available in Appendix B.

(according to the threshold defined in Appendix B), and the control treatment, that is, the treatment forbidding communication, to be a high treatment effect. This observation confirms the interpretation of moderate treatment effects as high-lighting a crowding-out effect.

Therefore we believe that the dual interpretation of cooperativeness-responsiveness in terms of players categorisation can be extended to the full range of possible treatment effects, and that the reasoning held in this section on positive treatment effects lends credence to the approach we adopted with negative treatment effects in this thesis.

7.1.2 Player categorisation yields encouraging results

Players categorisation was associated with positive results against real-life observed behaviour: it allowed to identify a correlation with illegal land clearance that the continuous indicators failed to detect with a satisfactory level of confidence, and indicated a correlation with PES participation, although at a lower confidence level, slightly below 95%. The latter result, which was weaker than with the continuous indicator for cooperativeness, could be interpreted in line with Laury & Taylor (2008), who noted that the parametric indicators they used for individual game behaviour were less efficient to look for external validity than the corresponding continuous indicators. Player categorisation allowed to gather some information from two variables, cooperativeness and responsivess, but necessarily lost information through the conversion.

Besides, conditional cooperators, who were defined as players particularly sensitive to framing, yielded intermediary results for observed behaviour and unpredictable ones for stated preferences. As a consequence, it is worth considering that player categorisation might have merely allowed to establish differences between highly cooperative players (unconditional cooperators) and highly uncooperative players (free-riders), by gathering a number of average players (conditional cooperators) in a separate category. In this case, the method would still receive the merit of identifying a category of player which is neither uncondionally cooperative nor free-riding.

7.2 Contrasted evidence for the external validity of CPR games

7.2.1 Positive but fragile results for observed behaviour

The analysis of correlations between real-life observed indicators and game indicators provided valuable results; in particular, player types were correlated both with real-life response to positive incentives (PES scheme participation, p = 0.058) and to real-life rule compliance (illegal land clearance, p = 0.033).

However, this conclusion must be drawn cautiously. Further investigation showed that the robustness of these findings might be weak, as the correlation between game behaviour and real-life observed behaviour might not remain under alternative hypotheses that we would yet also expect to be true.

First, some alternative choices of real-life variables yield negative correlation test results. Selecting participation in any PES as the indicator of response to positive incentives was justified as it constituted a balanced sample (116 participants and 91 non-participants). However, selecting the amount of money earned through PES involvement could have made sense. Though this continuous variable had the disadvantage of a non-normal structure (due to a large number of players, non-PES participants, who were associated with zero revenue from PES), it would have allowed to discriminate participants who were barely involved in PES schemes (e.g. selling products non-related to Eco-tourism to tourists) from the others. Yet correlation tests between game indicators and this variable instead of PES participation did not yield positive results (versus expected fish extraction under positive incentives: F(1, 205) = 0.000, p = 0.98; versus player types under positive incentives: F(2, 204) = 1.92, p = 0.15). Clements (2012) found that rule compliance was correlated to Ibis Rice programme participation and employment in the Ecotourism programme. Therefore it would have been justified to define enrollment in any one of these two activities as a substitute to PES participation (though it would not have allowed to control for Bird Nest programme participation and Ecotourism involvement, employment excluded). Once again, correlations would not have been found (versus expected fish extraction: t = -0.43, d.f. = 184, p = 0.66; against player types: $\chi^2 = 4.19, d.f. = 2, p = 0.12$).

Second, game indicators rely on the assumption that treatment effects satisfactorily mimic real-life incentives, either the PLUP enforcement through penalty rule treatment, or PES incentives through positive incentives treatment. If treatments are not perceived in the game as strong as in real-life (*e.g.* if rewards or sanctions in the game are too low or too high, or if stakes are not perceived accurately), the treatment effect values would not reflect real-life incentives. Yet we found that given the treatment effects for penalty rule and positive incentives in Table 6.3, correlations with real-life observed behaviour can be detectable for only a narrow range around them (*e.g.* for penalty rule, the treatment effect must be in [-0.39; -0.34] to be linked to illegal land clearance at 95% confidence level, and in [-0.47; -0.26] at 90% confidence level). These two observations show that although linkages were found between game behaviour and real-life observed behaviour, slight deviations, either in the definition of real-life variables or game variables, would make correlations undetectable, which indicates a low robustness of the results. Previous research report a fair number of PG games where individual contributions were correlated to real-life observed behaviour (Table 2.1). CPR game external validity at an individual level is on the contrary particularly rare in the literature. Indeed only Gelcich et al. (2013) identified a correlation among fishermen between individual fishing effort in a CPR game and their union status in real-life, which was strongly expected. Cooperativeness in a CPR game and voluntary collective actions have not yet been found to be linked: Prediger, Vollan and Frölich (2011) and Ruffle and Sosis (2006) obtained unconclusive results, while Hayo and Vollan (2012) concluded to a link between sheep extraction in the game and effort in collective action in real-life only at a group-level, and under condition of group homogeneity. We hypothesize that the complexity of CPR games makes difficult the control of variables to predict behaviour consistent across contexts. Following the observation that Gelcich et al. provided the unique support in favor of external validity at an individual level, we take the view that analysing CPR games that make participants face nearly identical situations in the game and in real life are required to gain better insight on the robustness of these correlation.

7.2.2 Exploring why there was no evidence for stated preferences

The negative results described in this thesis for stated preferences are in line with many previous studies.

More specifically, trust has been explored in external validity studies and yielded mostly negative conclusions. Based on an experiment very similar to the one of this thesis, that is, a framed field CPR experiment, Castillo *et al.* (2011), Janssen *et al.* (2013), and Prediger, Vollan and Frölich (2011) all concluded that CPR individual extraction was *not* correlated to the measure of trust they had defined. Similarly to this thesis, they had used an aggregate index of answers to general questions about Trust.

What is actually measured through survey questions about trust is worth being discussed. Evidence has indicated that the three GSS questions we have used might measure more adequately trusworthiness than trusting behaviour (Glaeser *et al.*, 2000; Karlan, 2005). In addition, trustworthiness has been found to be positively correlated to rule compliance when trust was not (Karlan, 2005). This implies that the interpersonal trust variable that we defined represents an uncertain social preference, while targeting adequate social preferences matters for external validity. Regardless of the social preference measured, GSS questions have been associated with higher cooperation in PG games (Anderson, Mellor & Milyo, 2004). However the field of applicability of this finding might be narrow, as a single measure of trust has been found to be simultaneously correlated to PG contributions, and not to CPR extraction (Parks, 1994)

This discussion therefore casts doubts on what was actually measured with the interpersonal trust variable, and warns that negative results could occur regard-less of the social preference measured.

These limits can reasonably be extended to the other stated preferences we measured. In addition, the use of questions on the PLUP and on the PES schemes as a proxy for opinion on conservation interventions, and of questions on village committees and on the PA rangers for perception of authorities is a matter of debate. One could argue that these questions were embedded in a very specific, factual context in which answers could be more strongly affected by daily interactions in the village and isolated events (*e.g.* an individual's opinion on authorities could decrease after a personal conflict with the village committee) than if they had been generalities on conservations actions and authorities. So that the *post hoc* definition of preferences from a survey conducted independtly from this thesis might have constituted inadequate variables to test against game behaviour.

7.2.3 Validation of hypotheses

We drew the following conclusions on the hypotheses conceptually formulated in Table 4.1, adapted to technical formulations in Table 5.3, whose results are in Table 6.5 :

H1. PES scheme participation was expected to be more likely for cooperative players and players responsive to positive incentives. Evidence supported the link between cooperativeness and PES participation, which may indicate that cooperative players are more conservation-minded and hereby more willing to engage in conservation schemes.

H2. Illegal land clearance, as a measure of non-compliance to conservation rules, was expected to be more unlikely for cooperative players and players sensitive to penalty rules. Analysis results attested significant differences, where unconditional cooperators (highly cooperative players) were the least likely to break the rule in real life, free-riders (poorly cooperative players) the most likely, and conditional cooperators (highly sensitive to the rule implementation) in between.

H3. Opinion on conservation intervention was expected to reflect intentions on actual behaviour related to conservation interventions, that is, opinion on PES mirroring observed enrollment in PES schemes, and opinion on PLUP mirroring observed compliance with the land-use plan. Yet game behaviour was not associated with opinions on PES schemes, PLUP nor all conservation interventions.

H4. Perception of authorities was expected to be linked to game behaviour, as cooperative players could have been more obedient to conservation authorities, and players who are more responsive to incentives could have been more easily influenced by them. No correlation pattern between perception of authorities and game behaviour was found.

H5. Interpersonal trust was believed to play a role according to a large body of literature on the subject. The game did not allow the identification of trusting and non-trusting players.

7.3 Broader implications: experimental games as a decision-making tool

At a time when targeting conservation effort is a priority (Engel, Pagiola & Wunder, 2008; Ferraro & Kiss, 2002), evidence for the external validity of experimental games is a prerequisite to their use as a decision-making tool (Voors *et al.*, 2012). Indeed beyond the external validity of a CPR game, what was at stake was the relevance of experimental games as a decision-making tool for conservation policy. Establishing external validity could empower games with two purposes: to assess policy efficiency, and to target populations particularly responsive to conservation incentives.

The first option was investigated in Colombia by Attanasio and Phillips (2008) and by Coleman and Lopez (2010). They both explored whether programmes designed to encourage community-mindness at a local scale achieved their goal, based on PG games, by comparing programme beneficiaries and non-beneficiaries. Assessing policy efficiency requires a control population to be performed (*e.g.* the beneficiary population before the programme implementation, or another village with similar characteristics where the programme is not implemented), so that our case study did not allow us to evaluate the effect of conservation actions undertaken before 2010.

The second option is more closely related to the aim of this thesis, that is, identify in the game individuals who are particularly responsive to incentives in real-life (either rules or payments). Succeeding would provide a method for targeting conservation effort at a moderate cost (Voors *et al.*, 2012). The methodology developed in this thesis suggested it might be used to deliver valuable insight at an individual-level, hence opening an avenue for ruling-out free-riders. Furthermore, evidence from the literature of conclusive group-level external validity analyses (Carpenter & Seki, 2011; Hayo & Vollan, 2012), and even conclusive only at group-level (Attanasio & Phillips, 2008), infers that this method could prove best used at a larger-scale, to discriminate villages/areas comprising a high or low proportion of inhabitants responsive to conservation incentives. Indeed, Gelcich *et al.*'s positive results suggest that external validity might be more easily found when players are tied together by a group-scale factor linked to cooperation (in their case fisherman unions differing in their cooperativeness level; Gelcich *et al.*, 2013).

It is now widely accepted that a unique institutional approach cannot solve all commons dilemmas (Ostrom, Janssen & Anderies, 2007), so that governance design demands to take into account local conditions (Dietz *et al.*, 2003). CPR games allow for rich institutional variants, therefore designating them as a particularly suitable game type to explore diverse local-scale policies. This study provides a weak support in favor of CPR games to target populations who are more likely to actually join conservation mechanisms and to comply with conservation rules. However, we believe the game complexity requires that game situations closely match the real-life behaviour it aims at predicting or at assessing to achieve robust outcomes, which may have been the main weakness of this study.

7.4 Further research

At the methodological level, the method for categorising players developed in this thesis delivered encouraging outcomes for treatments that induce an actual reduction in CPR extraction. We discussed the extension of this method to treatments that have an opposite effect, through crowding-out effect of social norms or explicit rules against cooperation. Testing the plausibility of this extension would require new analyses, to both broaden the use of the method, and reinforce its consistency across treatment effects. Whether the three players types characterised in this thesis are actually distinct or vary only in their cooperativeness level would deserve further exploration.

As regards to external validity itself, a weak support was brought for this case study. However, real-life indicators may have been weakened for various reasons, including selection biases for PES participation, a lack of reliability of the indicator for compliance with land-use plan, and inadequate stated preferences constructed *post hoc* from survey answers. In addition motivations in the game and in reallife (*i.e.* notably reasons for adopting a conservative behaviour) may have differed considerably. As a consequence we believe that further analysis with other real-life variables and/or populations of interest is needed to confirm or infirm implications for policy-making, and that focusing in the future on a CPR game that matches more closely the real-life behaviour it aims at identifying might overcome the challenges posed by the complexity of CPR games.

7.5 Conclusion

The external validity of a framed field CPR game was investigated in this thesis. Based on a considerable body of evidence that cooperation and reciprocation are salient determinants of individual behaviour, we have hypothesized that cooperativeness and responsiveness to incentives in the game, could predict in real-life enrollment in conservation programmes and rule compliance at an individual level. We have developed game indicators for individual cooperativeness and individual responsiveness to incentives in conditions designed to mimic real life circumstances, and used them to make comparisons with real-life behaviour, either actually observed or inferred by stated preferences. It revealed that observed behaviours, that included involvement in PES schemes and compliance with the village landuse plan, were correlated to a player categorisation built from a dual measure of cooperativeness-responsiveness to incentives in the game. The outcome was however poorly robust to deviations from game and real-life assumptions, and did not yield any significant result for stated preferences. This suggests either that the post hoc real-life data used was not entirely adequate to test the CPR game external validity, or that the complexity of a CPR game prevents it from predicting real-life behaviour with satisfactory confidence. We believe that further research is needed to confirm that CPR games that mimic closely real-life situations can be used to predict behaviour in conservation dilemmas, and hereby to target future conservation interventions or assess existing conservation mechanisms.

References

Adams, W. M., Aveling, R., Brockington, D., Dickson, B., Elliott, J., Hutton, J., Roe, D., Vira, B. & Wolmer, W. (2004) Biodiversity Conservation and the Eradication of Poverty. *Science*. 306 (5699), 1146-1149.

Ahn, T., Ostrom, E. & Walker, J. (2010) A common-pool resource experiment with postgraduate subjects from 41 countries. *Ecological Economics*. 69 (12), 2624-2633.

Akaike, H. (1974) A new look at the statistical model identification. *Automatic Control*, *IEEE Transactions.* 19 (6), 716-723.

Alix-Garcia, J., De Janvry, A. & Sadoulet, E. (2005) The role of risk in targeting payments for environmental services. *Available at SSRN 836144*

Anderies, J. M., Janssen, M. A., Bousquet, F., Cardenas, J., Castillo, D., Lopez, M., Tobias, R., Vollan, B. & Wutich, A. (2011) The challenge of understanding decisions in experimental studies of common pool resource governance. *Ecological Economics*. 70 (9), 1571-1579.

Anderson, L. R., Mellor, J. M. & Milyo, J. (2004) Social capital and contributions in a public-goods experiment. *The American Economic Review*. 94 (2), 373-376.

Anderson, S. P., Goeree, J. K. & Holt, C. A. (1998) A theoretical analysis of altruism and decision error in public goods games. *Journal of Public Economics.* 70 (2), 297-323.

Andersson, K. & Agrawal, A. (2011) Inequalities, institutions, and forest commons. Global Environmental Change. 21 (3), 866-875.

Apesteguia, J. & Maier-Rigaud, F. P. (2006) The Role of Rivalry Public Goods Versus Common-Pool Resources. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*. 50 (5), 646-663.

Attanasio, O. & Phillips, D. (2008) Peace and goodwill? Using an experimental game

to analyse Paz y Desarrollo. *IFS Working Papers WP08/03*. London, UK, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Axelrod, R. & Hamilton, W. D. (1981) The evolution of cooperation. *Science*. 211 (4489), 1390-1396.

Baland, J. & Platteau, J. (1996) Halting degradation of natural resources: is there a role for rural communities?, FAO.

Barrett, C. B. & Arcese, P. (1995) Are integrated conservation-development projects (ICDPs) sustainable? On the conservation of large mammals in sub-Saharan Africa. *World Development.* 23 (7), 1073-1084.

Barton, D. N., Faith, D. P., Rusch, G., Gjershaug, J., Castro, M., Vega, M. & Vega, E. (2003) Spatial prioritisation of environmental service payments for biodiversity protection. Oslo, Norway, Norsk institutt for vannforskning. Report number: Report SNR 4746/2003.

Bates, D. M. (2010) lme4: Mixed-effects modeling with R. Available from: http://lme4.r-Forge.r-Project.org/book.

Bates, D., Maechler, M. & Bolker, B. (2010) *Linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes* (version 0.99937542).

Benz, M. & Meier, S. (2008) Do people behave in experiments as in the field?evidence from donations. *Experimental Economics.* 11 (3), 268-281.

Berg, J., Dickhaut, J. & McCabe, K. (1995) Trust, reciprocity, and social history. *Games and Economic Behavior.* 10 (1), 122-142.

Bolker, B. M., Brooks, M. E., Clark, C. J., Geange, S. W., Poulsen, J. R., Stevens, M. H.
H. & White, J. S. (2009) Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. 24 (3), 127-135.

Boone, C., Declerck, C. & Kiyonari, T. (2010) Inducing Cooperative Behavior among Proselfs versus Prosocials: The Moderating Role of Incentives and Trust. *Journal of Conflict Resolution.* 54 (5), 799-824.

Bouma, J., Bulte, E. & van Soest, D. (2008) Trust and cooperation: Social capital and community resource management. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management.* 56 (2), 155-166.

Bowles, S. (2008) Policies designed for self-interested citizens may undermine "the moral sentiments": Evidence from economic experiments. *Science*. 320 (5883), 1605-1609.

Bowles, S. & Gintis, H. (2002) Social Capital And Community Governance. *The Economic Journal.* 112 (483), F419-F436.

Brehm, J. & Rahn, W. (1997) Individual-level evidence for the causes and consequences of social capital. *American Journal of Political Science*, 999-1023.

Burnham, K. P. & Anderson, D. R. (2004) Multimodel inference understanding AIC and BIC in model selection. *Sociological Methods & Research.* 33 (2), 261-304.

Cardenas, J. C. (2008) How do property rights affect individual and collective use and conservation of land, timber, water, fish, and other important resources? *Economics and Conservation in the Tropics: A Strategic Dialogue. January 31 February 1, 2008*, Available from: http://www.rff.org/Documents/08_Tropics_Conference/Tropics_Conference_Papers /Tropics_Conference_Cardenas_Property_rights.pdf.

Cardenas, J. C. (2005) Groups, commons and regulations: experiments with villagers and students in Colombia. *IEA Conference Volume Series*, Basingstoke; Macmillan Press; New York; St Martin's Press; 1998. pp.242.

Cardenas, J. C. & Carpenter, J. P. (2005) Experiments and economic development: Lessons from field labs in the developing world. *Middlebury College*.

Cardenas, J. C., Stranlund, J. & Willis, C. (2000) Local environmental control and institutional crowding-out. *World Development.* 28 (10), 1719-1733.

Cardenas, J. (2000) How do groups solve local commons dilemmas? Lessons from experimental economics in the field. *Environment, Development and Sustainability.* 2 (3-4), 305-322.

Cardenas, J. (2004) Norms from outside and from inside: an experimental analysis on the governance of local ecosystems. *Forest Policy and Economics*. 6 (34), 229-241.

Carpenter, J. & Cardenas, J. C. (2011) An intercultural examination of cooperation in the commons. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*. 55 (4), 632-651.

Carpenter, J. & Seki, E. (2011) Do social preferences increase productivity? Field experimental evidence from fishermen in Toyama Bay. *Economic Inquiry*. 49 (2), 612-630.

Castillo, D., Bousquet, F., Janssen, M. A., Worrapimphong, K. & Cardenas, J. C. (2011) Context matters to explain field experiments: Results from Colombian and Thai fishing villages. *Ecological Economics.* 70 (9), 1609-1620.

Castillo, D. & Saysel, A. K. (2005) Simulation of common pool resource field experiments: a behavioral model of collective action. *Ecological Economics.* 55 (3), 420-436.

Chen, X., Lupi, F., Via, A., He, G. & Liu, J. (2010) Using Cost-Effective Targeting to Enhance the Efficiency of Conservation Investments in Payments for Ecosystem Services. *Conservation Biology.* 24 (6), 1469-1478.

Chen, X., Lupi, F., An, L., Sheely, R., Via, A. & Liu, J. (2012) Agent-based modeling of the effects of social norms on enrollment in payments for ecosystem services. *Ecological Modelling.* 229 (0), 16-24.

Clements, T. (2012) Money for Something? Investigating the effectiveness of biodiversity conservation interventions in the Northern Plains of Cambodia. PhD Thesis. University of Cambridge, Cambridge.

Clements, T., John, A., Nielsen, K., Vicheka, C., Sokha, E., Piseth, M. & Piseth, H. (2008) *Tmatboey community-based ecotourism project, Cambodia*. Ministry of Environment & WCS Cambodia Program.

Clements, T., John, A., Nielsen, K., An, D., Tan, S. & Milner-Gulland, E. (2010) Payments for biodiversity conservation in the context of weak institutions: Comparison of three programs from Cambodia. *Ecological Economics*. 69 (6), 1283-1291.

Clements, T., Rainey, H., An, D., Rours, V., Tan, S., Thong, S., Sutherland, W. J. & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2013) An evaluation of the effectiveness of a direct payment for biodiversity conservation: The Bird Nest Protection Program in the Northern Plains of Cambodia. *Biological Conservation*. 157 (0), 50-59.

Coleman, E. A. & Lopez, M. (2010) Reconstructing Cooperation from Civil Conflict: Experimental Evidence from Colombian Development Policy. *Unpublished Manuscript*

Colman, A. M. (2003) Cooperation, psychological game theory, and limitations of rationality in social interaction. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences.* 26 (02), 139-153.

Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., De Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'neill, R. V. & Paruelo, J. (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem

services and natural capital. Nature. 387 (6630), 253-260.

Dawes, R. M. (1980) Social dilemmas. Annual Review of Psychology. 31 (1), 169-193.

Dawes, R. M. & Messick, D. M. (2000) Social dilemmas. *International Journal of Psychology*. 35 (2), 111-116.

de Mendiburu, F. (2012) Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research (version 1.1-1).

del Pilar Moreno-Snchez, R. & Maldonado, J. H. (2010) Evaluating the role of comanagement in improving governance of marine protected areas: An experimental approach in the Colombian Caribbean. *Ecological Economics*. 69 (12), 2557-2567.

Dietz, T., Ostrom, E. & Stern, P. C. (2003) The struggle to govern the commons. *Science*. 302 (5652), 1907-1912.

Durlauf, S. N. (2002) On The Empirics Of Social Capital. *The Economic Journal*. 112 (483), F459-F479.

Engel, S., Pagiola, S. & Wunder, S. (2008) Designing payments for environmental services in theory and practice: An overview of the issues. *Ecological Economics.* 65 (4), 663-674.

English, W. (2012) Demystifying trust: Experimental evidence from Cambodia and Thailand. *Journal of Theoretical Politics*. 24 (2), 172-209.

Falk, A. & Heckman, J. J. (2009) Lab Experiments Are a Major Source of Knowledge in the Social Sciences. *Science*. 326 (5952), 535-538.

Fehr, E. & Fischbacher, U. (2003) The nature of human altruism. *Nature*. 425 (6960), 785-791.

Fehr, E. & Fischbacher, U. (2002) Why social preferences matter impact of non?selfish motives on competition, cooperation and incentives. *The Economic Journal.* 112 (478), C1-C33.

Fehr, E. & Gächter, S. (2000a) Cooperation and punishment in public goods experiments. *The American Economic Review.* 90 (4), 980-994.

Fehr, E. & Gächter, S. (2000b) Fairness and retaliation: The economics of reciprocity. The Journal of Economic Perspectives. 14 (3), 159-181. Fehr, E. & Leibbrandt, A. (2011) A field study on cooperativeness and impatience in the tragedy of the commons. *Journal of Public Economics*. 95 (9), 1144-1155.

Fehr, E. & Schmidt, K. M. (1999) A theory of fairness, competition, and cooperation. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics.* 114 (3), 817-868.

Ferraro, P. J. (2004) Targeting conservation investments in heterogeneous landscapes: a distance-function approach and application to watershed management. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics.* 86 (4), 905-918.

Ferraro, P. J. (2001) Global habitat protection: limitations of development interventions and a role for conservation performance payments. *Conservation Biology*. 15 (4), 990-1000.

Ferraro, P. J. & Simpson, R. D. (2002) The cost-effectiveness of conservation payments. Land Economics. 78 (3), 339-353.

Ferraro, P. J. & Kiss, A. (2002) Direct Payments to Conserve Biodiversity. *Science*. 298 (5599), 1718-1719.

Fischbacher, U., Gächter, S. & Fehr, E. (2001) Are people conditionally cooperative? Evidence from a public goods experiment. *Economics Letters.* 71 (3), 397-404.

Fisher, B., Kulindwa, K., Mwanyoka, I., Turner, R. K. & Burgess, N. D. (2010) Common pool resource management and PES: lessons and constraints for water PES in Tanzania. *Ecological Economics.* 69 (6), 1253-1261.

Fisher, J. (2012) No pay, no care? A case study exploring motivations for participation in payments for ecosystem services in Uganda. *Oryx.* 46 (01), 45.

Fisman, R. & Khanna, T. (1999) Is trust a historical residue? Information flows and trust levels. Journal of *Economic Behavior & Organization*. 38 (1), 79-92.

Frost, P. G. H. & Bond, I. (2008) The CAMPFIRE programme in Zimbabwe: Payments for wildlife services. *Ecological Economics.* 65 (4), 776-787.

Gächter, S. & Falk, A. (2002) Reputation and reciprocity: Consequences for the labour relation. The Scandinavian Journal of Economics. 104 (1), 1-26.

Gelcich, S., Guzman, R., Rodrguez-Sickert, C., Castilla, J. C. & Crdenas, J. C. (2013) Exploring External Validity of Common Pool Resource Experiments: Insights from Artisanal Benthic Fisheries in Chile. *Ecology and Society.* 18 (3).

Gelman, A. &Su, Y. (2013) Data Analysis Using Regression and Multilevel/Hierarchical Models (version 1.6-06.01).

Ghate, R., Ghate, S. & Ostrom, E. (2013) Can Communities Plan, Grow and Sustainably Harvest from Forests? *Economic and Political Weekly.* 48 (08), 59-69.

Gintis, H. (2000) Beyond "Homo economicus": evidence from experimental economics. *Ecological Economics.* 35 (3), 311-322.

Glaeser, E. L., Laibson, D. I., Scheinkman, J. A. & Soutter, C. L. (2000) Measuring trust. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics.* 115 (3), 811-846.

Goetze, D. (1994) Comparing prisoner's dilemma, commons dilemma, and public goods provision designs in laboratory experiments. *Journal of Conflict Resolution.* 38 (1), 56-86.

Gurven, M. & Winking, J. (2008) Collective action in action: Prosocial behavior in and out of the laboratory. *American Anthropologist.* 110 (2), 179-190.

Hardin, G. (1968) The Tragedy of the Commons. Science. 162 (3859), 1243-1248.

Harrison, G. W. & List, J. A. (2004) Field experiments. *Journal of Economic Literature*. 42 (4), 1009-1055.

Hayo, B. & Vollan, B. (2012) Group interaction, heterogeneity, rules, and co-operative behaviour: Evidence from a common-pool resource experiment in South Africa and Namibia. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*. 81 (1), 9-28.

Henderson, C. R. (1975) Best linear unbiased estimation and prediction under a selection model. *Biometrics*, 423-447.

Henrich, J., Boyd, R., Bowles, S., Camerer, C., Fehr, E., Gintis, H., McElreath, R., Alvard, M., Barr, A. & Ensminger, J. (2005) "Economic man" in cross-cultural perspective: Behavioral experiments in 15 small-scale societies. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*. 28 (6), 795-814.

Henrich, J., Heine, S. J. & Norenzayan, A. (2010) The weirdest people in the world. Behavioral and Brain Sciences. 33 (2-3), 61-83.

Herrmann, B. & Thni, C. (2009) Measuring conditional cooperation: a replication study

in Russia. Experimental Economics. 12 (1), 87-92.

Hill, K. & Gurven, M. (2004) Economic experiments to examine fairness and cooperation among the Ache Indians of Paraguay. *Foundations in Human Sociality: Economic Experiments and Ethnographic Evidence from Fifteen Small-Scale Societies*, 382-412.

Holt, C. A., Rutherford, M. B. & Peterman, R. M. (2008) International cooperation among nation-states of the North Pacific Ocean on the problem of competition among salmon for a common pool of prey resources. *Marine Policy.* 32 (4), 607-617.

Husain, Z. & Bhattacharya, R. N. (2004) Common pool resources and contextual factors: Evolution of a fishermen's cooperative in Calcutta. *Ecological Economics.* 50 (3), 201-217.

Isaac, R. M. & Walker, J. M. (1988) Group size effects in public goods provision: The voluntary contributions mechanism. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*. 103 (1), 179-199.

Ishii, K. & Kurzban, R. (2008) Public goods games in Japan. *Human Nature*. 19 (2), 138-156.

Jack, B. K., Kousky, C. & Sims, K. R. E. (2008) Designing payments for ecosystem services: Lessons from previous experience with incentive-based mechanisms. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences. 105 (28), 9465-9470.

Jager, W., Janssen, M., De Vries, H., De Greef, J. & Vlek, C. (2000) Behaviour in commons dilemmas: i i Homo economicus;/i and i Homo psychologicus;/i in an ecological-economic model. *Ecological Economics.* 35 (3), 357-379.

James, A. N., Gaston, K. J. & Balmford, A. (1999) Balancing the Earth's accounts. *Nature*. 401 (6751), 323-324.

James, A., Gaston, K. J. & Balmford, A. (2001) Can we afford to conserve biodiversity? *Bioscience.* 51 (1), 43-52.

Janssen, M. A., Bousquet, F., Cardenas, J., Castillo, D. & Worrapimphong, K. (2013) Breaking the elected rules in a field experiment on forestry resources. *Ecological Economics.* 90, 132-139.

Janssen, M. A., Bousquet, F., Cardenas, J., Castillo, D. & Worrapimphong, K. (2012) Field experiments on irrigation dilemmas. Agricultural Systems. 109, 65-75. Karlan, D. S. (2005) Using experimental economics to measure social capital and predict financial decisions. *American Economic Review*. 1688-1699.

Karsenty, A., Vogel, A. & Castell, F. (in press) Carbon rights, REDD+ and payments for environmental services. *Environmental Science & Policy*.

Kennedy, B. P., Kawachi, I., Prothrow-Stith, D., Lochner, K. & Gupta, V. (1998) Social capital, income inequality, and firearm violent crime. *Social Science & Medicine*. 47 (1), 7-17.

Keser, C. & Gardner, R. (1999) Strategic behavior of experienced subjects in a common pool resource game. *International Journal of Game Theory.* 28 (2), 241-252.

Kocher, M. G., Cherry, T., Kroll, S., Netzer, R. J. & Sutter, M. (2008) Conditional cooperation on three continents. *Economics Letters*. 101 (3), 175-178.

Kurzban, R. & Houser, D. (2005) Experiments investigating cooperative types in humans: A complement to evolutionary theory and simulations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* 102 (5), 1803-1807.

Laury, S. K. & Taylor, L. O. (2008) Altruism spillovers: Are behaviors in context-free experiments predictive of altruism toward a naturally occurring public good? *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*. 65 (1), 9-29.

Leader-Williams, N. & Milner-Gulland, E. (1993) Policies for the enforcement of wildlife laws: the balance between detection and penalties in Luangwa Valley, Zambia. *Conservation Biology*. 7 (3), 611-617.

Ledyard, J. O. (1994) *Public Goods: A Survey of Experimental Research* (No. 9405003). EconWPA.

Levitt, S. D. & List, J. A. (2009) Field experiments in economics: the past, the present, and the future. *European Economic Review.* 53 (1), 1-18.

Levitt, S. D. & List, J. A. (2007) What do laboratory experiments measuring social preferences reveal about the real world? *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*. 21 (2), 153-174.

Levitt, S. D. & List, J. A. (2006) What do laboratory experiments tell us about the real world? *Journal of Economic Perspectives*

Levitt, S. D. & List, J. A. (2008) Homo economicus Evolves. *Science*. 319 (5865), 909-910.

Lindstrom, M. J. & Bates, D. M. (1990) Nonlinear mixed effects models for repeated measures data. *Biometrics*. 673-687.

List, J. A. (2007) Field experiments: a bridge between lab and naturally occurring data. The BE Journal of *Economic Analysis & Policy.* 6 (2), 1-45.

List, J. A. (2005) The behavioralist meets the market: Measuring social preferences and reputation effects in actual transactions. *National Bureau of Economic Research*.

Loucks, C., Mascia, M. B., Maxwell, A., Huy, K., Duong, K., Chea, N., Long, B., Cox, N. & Seng, T. (2009) Wildlife decline in Cambodia, 19532005: exploring the legacy of armed conflict. *Conservation Letters.* 2 (2), 82-92.

Lusk, J. L., Pruitt, J. R. & Norwood, B. (2006) External validity of a framed field experiment. *Economics Letters.* 93 (2), 285-290.

Magnhagen, C. & Bunnefeld, N. (2009) Express your personality or go along with the group: what determines the behaviour of shoaling perch? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences.* 276 (1671), 3369-3375.

Mellström, C. & Johannesson, M. (2008) Crowding out in blood donation: was Titmuss right? *Journal of the European Economic Association*. 6 (4), 845-863.

Ministry of Environment. (2010) Fourth National Report to the Convention on Biological Diversity. Phnom Penh, Cambodia, Ministry of Environment, Royal Government of Cambodia.

Ministry of Environment. (2002) National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan. Phnom Penh, Cambodia, Ministry of Environment, Royal Government of Cambodia. Report number: FAO/UNDP/GEF, Project CMB/98/G33.

Myers, N., Mittermeier, R. A., Mittermeier, C. G., Da Fonseca, G. A. & Kent, J. (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*. 403 (6772), 853-858.

Narloch, U., Pascual, U. & Drucker, A. G. (2012) Collective action dynamics under external rewards: experimental insights from Andean farming communities. *World Development*. 40 (10), 2096-2107.

National Opinion Research Center. (2013) the National Data Program for the Social Sciences. [Online] Available from:

http://www3.norc.org/GSS+Website/About+GSS/National+Data+Program+for+Social+Sciences/ [Accessed 26/08/2013].

National Research Council (NRC). (1986) Proceedings of the conference on common property resource management. Washington, D.C., USA, National Academy Press.

Olson, M. (1971) The logic of collective action: Public goods and the theory of groups. 2nd edition (1971) edition., Harvard University Press.

Olson, D. M. & Dinerstein, E. (1998) The Global 200: A Representation Approach to Conserving the Earth's Most Biologically Valuable Ecoregions. *Conservation Biology*. 12 (3), 502-515.

Ostrom, E. (1999) *Self-governance and forest resources*. Bogor, Indonesia, CIFOR. Report number: CIFOR Occasional Paper No.20.

Ostrom, E., Gardner, R. & Walker, J. (1994) Rules, games, and common-pool resources. University of Michigan Press.

Ostrom, E. (1998) A behavioral approach to the rational choice theory of collective action: Presidential address, American Political Science Association, 1997. *American Political Science Review*. 1-22.

Ostrom, E. (1990) Governing the commons: The evolution of institutions for collective action. Cambridge university press.

Ostrom, E., Janssen, M. A. & Anderies, J. M. (2007) Going beyond panaceas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 104 (39), 15176-15178.

Ostrom, E. & Walker, J. (1997) Neither markets nor states: Linking transformation processes in collective action arenas. In: Mueller, D. C. (ed.). *Perspectives on Public Choice: A Handbook*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press. pp. 35-72.

Ostrom, E., Walker, J. & Gardner, R. (1992) Covenants with and without a sword: Self-governance is possible. *The American Political Science Review*. 404-417.

Ostrom, E. (2006) The value-added of laboratory experiments for the study of institutions and common-pool resources. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*. 61 (2), 149-163. Ostrom, E. (2000) Collective Action and the Evolution of Social Norms. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*. 14 (3), 137-158.

Pagiola, S., Agostini, P., Gobbi, J., de Haan, C., Ibrahim, M., Murgueitio, E., Ramrez,
E., Rosales, M. & Ruz, J. P. (2004) *Paying for biodiversity conservation services in agri*cultural landscapes. World Bank, Environment Department.

Parks, C. D. (1994) The predictive ability of social values in resource dilemmas and public goods games. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin.* 20 (4), 431-438.

Poteete, A. R., Janssen, M. & Ostrom, E. (2010) Working together: collective action, the commons, and multiple methods in practice. Princeton University Press.

Poteete, A. R. & Ostrom, E. (2004) Heterogeneity, group size and collective action: The role of institutions in forest management. *Development and Change.* 35 (3), 435-461.

Prediger, S., Vollan, B. & Frlich, M. (2011) The impact of culture and ecology on cooperation in a common-pool resource experiment. *Ecological Economics*. 70 (9), 1599-1608.

R Development Core Team. (2011) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing (v.2.14.1) [ISBN 3-900051-07-9] Vienna, Austria, R Foundation for Statistical Computing.

Réale, D., Reader, S. M., Sol, D., McDougall, P. T. & Dingemanse, N. J. (2007) Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. *Biological Reviews.* 82 (2), 291-318.

Ripley, B. (2013) Feed-forward Neural Networks and Multinomial Log-Linear Models (version 7.3-1).

Rodriguez-Sickert, C., Guzmn, R. A. & Crdenas, J. C. (2008) Institutions influence preferences: Evidence from a common pool resource experiment. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization.* 67 (1), 215-227.

Ruffle, B. J. & Sosis, R. (2006) Cooperation and the in-group-out-group bias: A field test on Israeli kibbutz members and city residents. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization.* 60 (2), 147-163.

Rustagi, D., Engel, S. & Kosfeld, M. (2010) Conditional cooperation and costly monitoring explain success in forest commons management. *Science*. 330 (6006), 961-965. Simon, H. A. (1991) Bounded rationality and organizational learning. *Organization Science*. 2 (1), 125-134.

Simpson, B. (2004) Social values, subjective transformations, and cooperation in social dilemmas. *Social Psychology Quarterly.* 67 (4), 385-395.

Smith, V. L. (2010) Theory and experiment: What are the questions? *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*. 73 (1), 3-15.

Sommerville, M. M., Jones, J. P. & Milner-Gulland, E. (2009) A revised conceptual framework for payments for environmental services. *Ecology and Society.* 14 (2), 34.

The MathWorks Inc., 2. (2012) *Matlab* (v7.14.0.739) Natick, Massachusetts, The MathWorks, Inc., 2012.

Titmuss, R. M. (1971) Problems of social policy. Greenwood Press.

Travers, H. (2009) Levelling the Playing Field: the Effects of Institutional Controls on Common Pool Resource Extraction. MSc Conservation Science. Imperial College London.

Travers, H., Clements, T., Keane, A. & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2011) Incentives for cooperation: The effects of institutional controls on common pool resource extraction in Cambodia. *Ecological Economics.* 71 (0), 151-161.

Van Dijk, E. & Wilke, H. (1995) Coordination rules in asymmetric social dilemmas: A comparison between public good dilemmas and resource dilemmas. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology.* 31 (1), 1-27.

Van Lange, P. A., De Cremer, D., Van Dijk, E. & Van Vugt, M. (2007) Self-interest and Beyond. *Social Psychology: Handbook of Basic Principles.* 540-561.

Villamor, G. B. & van Noordwijk, M. (2011) Social role-play games vs individual perceptions of conservation and PES agreements for maintaining rubber agroforests in Jambi (Sumatra). *Ecology and Society.* 16 (3), 27.

Voinov, A. & Bousquet, F. (2010) Modelling with stakeholders. *Environmental Modelling & Software*. 25 (11), 1268-1281.

Vollan, B. (2008) Socio-ecological explanations for crowding-out effects from economic field experiments in southern Africa. *Ecological Economics*. 67 (4), 560-573.

Voors, M., Bulte, E., Kontoleon, A., List, J. A. & Turley, T. (2011) Using artefactual field experiments to learn about the incentives for sustainable forest use in developing economies. *The American Economic Review*. 101 (3), 329-333.

Voors, M., Turley, T., Kontoleon, A., Bulte, E. & List, J. A. (2012) Exploring whether behavior in context-free experiments is predictive of behavior in the field: Evidence from lab and field experiments in rural Sierra Leone. *Economics Letters.* 114 (3), 308-311.

Wade, R. (1988) Village Republics: Economic conditions for collective action in South India. Oakland, ICS Press.

Weingart, A. & Kirk, M. (2012) 11 Escaping Poverty Traps? Collective Action and Property Rights in Postwar Rural Cambodia. *Collective Action and Property Rights for Poverty Reduction: Insights from Africa and Asia.* 328.

Winkler, R. (2011) Why do ICDPs fail?: The relationship between agriculture, hunting and ecotourism in wildlife conservation. *Resource and Energy Economics.* 33 (1), 55-78.

Winney, K. (2011) Quantifying land use change and identifying predictors of forest clearance in Seima Protection Forest, Cambodia. Master of Science. Imperial College London.

World Values Survey. (2013) Introduction to the World Values Survey. [Online] Available from: http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/wvs/articles/folder_published/article_base_46 [Accessed 26/08/2013].

Wunder, S. (2007) The efficiency of payments for environmental services in tropical conservation. *Conservation Biology.* 21 (1), 48-58.

Wunder, S. CIFOR (ed.) (2005) Payments for Environmental Services: Some Nuts and Bolts. Bogor, Report number: Occasional Paper No. 42.

Wunder, S., Engel, S. & Pagiola, S. (2008) Taking stock: A comparative analysis of payments for environmental services programs in developed and developing countries. *Ecological Economics.* 65 (4), 834-852.

Zuur, A., Ieno, E., Walker, N., Saveliev, A. & Smith, G. (2009) Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R., Springer.

Appendix A

Model selection

Table A.1: Model selection, as described in Methods part, Model Selection subsection.

Model	Interaction term	AIC	Comment				
19	None	13788	Model fitted by Travers <i>et al.</i> (2011)				
19_{2}	Treatment*Round	13591	Best fit				
19_{3}	Treatment * Decision	-	GLMM cannot be run (empty levels)				
19_{4}	Round * Decision	13775	-				
19_{5}	Treatment * Round *	-	GLMM cannot be run (empty levels)				
	Decision						

Fitted model:

$$\begin{split} \text{Fish} &\sim \text{Treatment * Round + Education + Decision + Gender + Day +} \\ \text{Previous + (1 | Group / Village) + (1 | Individual),} \\ \text{Observations: 4745, d.f.: 31.} \end{split}$$

Appendix B

Sensitivity to treatments: five configurations

Analysis of sensitivity to treatments properties led us to distinguish five configurations determined by the value of treatment effect. Individual behaviour can be interpreted and categorised based on the roots and curve shapes of the associated sensitivity distribution.

The two critical values for treatment effect were found to be: T = 0 and $T = -2S_1 - 2P_0$.

T = 0 is the critical value for the shape of the distribution, which is convex for treatment effect T < 0 and concave for T > 0.

 $T = -2S_1 - P_0$ is the threshold for the relative position of the roots. Roots formal expression was solved for with Matlab software v7.14.0.739 (The MathWork Inc., 2012) and found to be: $x_1 = P_0$ and $x_2 = -2S_1 - P_0 - T_j$. As a consequence, root x_1 does not depend on treatment effect and is the trivial solution corresponding to the baseline player. The position of root x_2 is therefore also its position relative to the baseline player.

The five configurations are illustrated and their characteristics summed up in table B.1. Case 1 interpretation has been described in the Methods part of this thesis. Conditional cooperation is here understood as cooperation conditional to the current microsituational settings.

Similarly to Case 1, UC-CC-F interpretation can be made for treatments under which individual are expected to increase their extraction (T > 0, Cases 3-4-5, table B.1). This
interpretation is discussed in the Discussion part of this thesis. Conditional cooperators thus defined for T > 0 are players who can be expected to extract more (Case 3) or less (Case 5) fish than the baseline player. Case 4 is the threshold case in which no CC players can be identified.

Please note that player types are interpreted here as a characterisation of players confronted to a perturbation (that is, the treatment effect). Variation in the intensity and sign of the perturbation incite some players to switch from one type to another. Under low treatments effects, the perturbation has a low intensity, so that individual sensitivities are harder to detect (absolute values for sensitivities are lower). A main advantage of the categorization is that it allows to distinguish player types based on the sign of the players' sensitivities and not on the sensitivities values themselves, so that the categorisation is possible regardless of the perturbation intensity.

However in the case $T_j = 0$ (Case 2), no perturbation is implemented, so that sensitivity is uniformly zero, which makes player types undetectable. Nevertheless, the evolution of the numbers of players in each category is monotonous for $T_j < -2S_1 - 2P_0$, which spans zero.

This reasoning justified the definition of the player type categorisation for $T_j = 0$ the same way as for Case 1 and Case 3 (*i.e.* with threshold values P_0 and $-2S_1 - P_0 - T_j$), by extrapolation of these cases to Case 2.



Table B.1: Sensitivity to treatments: five configurations depending on treatment effect T.

Notes:

¹ Treatment effect on expected individual extraction.

² Illustrative graphics computed with $P_0 = -0.1$, $S_1 = -0.24$. P_0 was not set to its empirical value for illustrative purposes.

³ $x_1 = P_0$, $x_2 = -2S_1 - P_0$

⁴ Position of conditional cooperators players relative to the baseline player.

Above (Below): CC players extract more (less) than the baseline player. None: the configuration a priori does not allow to identify CC players.

⁵ By extrapolation of Cases 1 and 3, x_1 , x_2 can be set as thresholds, and CC players are then above the baseline player ($x_1 < x_2$). See justification in the text.

Appendix C

Comparison of individual fish extraction indicators

C.1 Characteristic values

Table C.1 provides characteristic values of individual attributes estimators and individual fish extraction indicators.

The baseline player is found to be characterised by an individual attributes estimator $P_0 = -0.01$ close to the mean estimator of the distribution. The difference between the two is actually indistinguishable at precision 10^{-2} . Under the baseline micro-situational settings, expected fish extraction is found to range from 0.36 to 8.81 fish from the possible [0;10] interval, and the probability of extracting more fish than the baseline player ranges from 0.00 to 0.98 from the possible [0;11], so that the probability indicator stretches the distribution of individual attributes estimators over the possible range of values more than expected fish extraction. The effect of the two treatments of interest, *i.e.* individual positive incentives and individual penalty rule, is found to appear clearly on expected fish extraction at precision 10^{-2} , leading for instance the baseline player to reduce her extraction from 4.36 fish under baseline settings to 3.47 (respectively 3.51) fish under penalty rule treatment (respectively positive incentive treatment, Figure C.1). The treatment effect on the probability indicator is unnoticeable at 10^{-2} (identical value for baseline and incentive treatments).



Figure C.1: Individual fish extraction indicators versus individual attributes estimator: expected fish extraction (Left) and probabilities to extract more fish, fewer fish, and as many fish as the baseline player (Right). Three different microsituational settings are taken into account for expected fish extraction: baseline, individual penalty rule (T3) and individual positive incentive (T4). T3 and T4 curves are nearly indistinguishable.

Table C.1: Characteristic values for individual attributes estimator, and associated expected fish extraction and the probability to extract more fish than the baseline player, under the three micro-situational settings of interest (n=317 players).

Variable		i^1	Individual attributes estimator			
variable		J	Lower $min_i(P_i)$	Upper $max_i(P_i)$	$\frac{\text{Mean}}{\overline{P_i}}$	Baseline P_0
Individual attributes estimator	P_i	-	-3.06	+2.24	-0.01	-0.01
Expected fish extraction	f_{ij}	1	0.36	8.81	4.37	4.36
		3	0.25	8.35	3.47	3.47
		4	0.25	8.38	3.52	3.51
Probability of extracting more	$p_{sup_{ij}}$	1	0.00	0.98	0.41	0.41
fish than the baseline player		3	0.01	0.99	0.41	0.41
		4	0.01	0.99	0.41	0.41

¹ Treatment. 1: Baseline settings, 3: individual positive incentives, 4: indivisual penalty rule

Table C.2: Shape parameters for the distributions of individual attributes estimator and individual fish extraction indicators estimated under the baseline microsituational settings.

Variable		Kurtosis	Skewness
Individual attributes estimator	P_i	0.16	-0.31
Expected fish extraction	f_{i1}	-0.76	0.02
Probability of extracting more fish than the baseline player	$p_{sup_{i1}}$	-1.15	0.12

C.2 Distribution shapes

Figure C.2 shows the distribution of each indicator. It suggests that the probability indicator tends to force the distinction between average players (the cluster of average values in individual attributes estimator is linearised in the probability indicator distribution). Kolmogorov-Smrinoff tests confirmed that the probability indicator distribution is less similar to the normal distribution than the individual attributes estimator and the expected fish extraction distributions (significance of Kolmogorov-Smirnoff similarity tests with normal distributions, respectively: p = 0.028, p = 0.19 and p = 0.16). Shape parameters showed that the individual attributes estimator distribution was slightly leptokurtic and negatively-skewed (Table C.2). Both the expected fish extraction and the probability indicator functions increased the distribution skewness into a slightly positive one, that is, extended the upper tail at the expense of the lower tail and hereby enabled to distinguish more easily extreme extractors. Both functions decreased the distribution kurtosis to a negative value, so that extreme values are favored at the expense of average values. Nevertheless, the effect is stronger for the probability indicator (kurtosis = -1.15) than for expected fish extraction (kurtosis = -0.76).

C.3 Precision

Individual confidence intervals for the values of individual attributes estimators and the two individual fish extraction indicators are plotted in Figure C.2. Both expected fish extraction and the probability indicator tended to create a precision gap between average and extreme values, average players being associated with the widest confidence intervals. The effect was found to be stronger for the probability indicator, as the magnitude ratio

of confidence intervals between the probability indicator and expected fish extraction increased from around 0.2 for most extreme values to around 1.7 for average values.



Figure C.2: Simulated individual attributes estimator (left), and associated expected fish extraction (center) and probability of extracting more fish than the baseline player (cight). m = 1000 simulations, horizontal lines display 95% confidence intervals for each player in [1..317].

C.4 Conclusion on indicator selection

The three previous subsections have detailed similarities and differences between the two indicators, expected fish extraction and the probability of extracting more fish than the baseline player. They have indicated that the two functions generated moderate shape transformations, though the probability indicator tends to highlight extreme players at the expense of average ones (lower kurtosis value plus lower precision for average players).

Moreover, the interpretation of variations in the probability indicator value is delicate, because the treatment effects are harder to detect, and most of all because a variation in the probability to extract more fish than the baseline player is dependent on the variations in two other indicators (probabilities of extracting fewer fish and as many fish as the baseline player, Figure C.1). So that opposite variations in the probability indicator could *not* be interpreted directly as actual opposite effects.

These two conclusions suggested that expected fish extraction is a more robust indicator with a more straightforward interpretation. Therefore it was selected as the game indicator for cooperation to test against real-life behaviour.

Appendix D

Subset representativeness

Table D.1 shows the results of homogeneity tests that have been performed to assess the representativeness of subsets. No significant difference was found between the subsamples and whole samples, both for means and proportions (tested with respectively Welch t-tests and Pearson χ^2 tests) and for distributions (tested with Kolmogorov-Smirnoff tests for continuous variables). The only exception was the Opinion on PLUP, which was lower in the subsample (0.35 on average for 91 players) than in the whole sample (0.43 on average for 192 players; t = -2.01, d.f. = 186.7, p = 0.046).

Variable	Obs. 1^1	Obs. 2^2	test 1^3	KS^4
$\overline{\mathbf{Game}^5}$				
Expected fish extraction	317	207	0.83	1.00
		205	0.77	0.99
		91	0.90	1.00
Sensitivity to treatment		207	0.98	0.98
		205	0.99	0.98
		91	0.87	0.99
Player type		207	0.93	-
		205	0.88	-
		91	0.78	-
Real-life				
PES participation	616	207	0.22	-
Illegal land clearance	609	205	0.51	-
Opinion on PES	192	91	0.31	0.40
Opinion on PLUP			0.05	0.71
Opinion on $Both^6$			0.39	0.95
Perception of authorities			0.96	0.99
Interpersonal trust			0.16	0.90

Table D.1: Results of homogeneity tests

¹ Size of the whole dataset available for the variable.

 2 Size of the dataset used for Game versus Real-life correlation tests.

 3 t-test p-value for continuous variables, χ^2 p-value for categorical variables

 4 Kolmogorov-Smirnoff test p-value.

 5 Results for individual positive incentives treatment only are displayed here.

 6 All conservation interventions

Appendix E

Correlation patterns between game and real-life behaviour

E.1 Observed behaviour

E.1.1 PES participation

PES participants were found in the game to extract fewer fish under individual positive incentives than non-PES participants, as their mean expected fish extractions under these settings were respectively 3.53 and 4.10 (Figure E.1, Column A, Row 1), which was significantly different (t = 2.24, d.f. = 186.4, p = 0.026). This indicates that cooperativeness was associated with PES participation with reasonable confidence.

Sensitivity to individual positive incentives, however, was not correlated to PES participation: though PES participants were more responsive to the treatment ($\Delta(i, 4) = 0.10$ on average for PES participants, $\Delta(i, 4) = 0.12$ for non-participants, Figure E.1, Column B, Row 1), the effect was not significant (t = -0.91, d.f. = 204.7, p = 0.36).

Player type categorisation was able to confirm the correlation between cooperativeness and PES participation. Indeed, the proportion of PES participants increased from 39.4% among free-riders, to 54.8% among conditional cooperators and to 63.3% unconditional cooperators (Figure E.1, Column C, Row 1). The correlation was weaker than with expected fish extraction, but valid at a confidence level close to 95% ($\chi^2 = 5.71$, d.f. = 2, p = 0.058).

E.1.2 Illegal land clearance

As hypothesized, expected fish extraction under individual penalty rule treatment was found to be higher for players who had illegally cleared land than for those who had not (on average, respectively 4.10 and 3.66 fish, Figure E.1, Column A, Row 2). The gap, however, was not statistically significant (t = -1.33, d.f. = 63.3, p = 0.19).

Responsiveness to penalty rule did not allow to differentiate players who had illegally cleared land and those who had not. Indeed, mean sensitivities to individual penalty rule treatment of the two groups were nearly indistinguishable (respectively $\Delta(i,3) = 0.12$ and $\Delta(i,3) = 0.11$; Figure E.1, Column B, Row 2; t = 0.18, d.f. = 88.5, p = 0.86).

Player categorisation under penalty rule allowed to identify distinct land clearance behaviours: it confirmed the unconclusive previous observation that uncooperative players were more likely to illegally clear land (37.5% of free-riders did), but also indicated that conditional cooperators were more compliant with the rule than unconditional cooperators (respectively 15.30% and 21.60% of illegal land clearance cases, Figure E.1, Column C, Row 2). Contrary to the test with expected fish extraction, the effect was significant at 95% confidence level ($\chi^2 = 6.80$, d.f. = 2, p = 0.033).

E.2 Stated preferences

E.2.1 Opinion on conservation interventions

Indicators of cooperativeness were exepcted to increase with opinions on conservation actions. Linear regressions for expected fish extraction under individual positive incentives, individual penalty rule and baseline settings versus opinions on respectively PES schemes, PLUPs and all conservation interventions all failed to identify any correlation (Figure E.1, Column A, Row 3 to 5; respectively F(1, 89) = 0.47, p = 0.49; F(1, 89) = 0.22, p = 0.63; F(1, 89) = 0.52, p = 0.47).

Responsiveness to incentives, which was also expected to be positively correlated with opinions on conservation interventions, yielded similar figures. No significant relation between sensitivity to individual positive incentives and opinion on PES were found through linear regression (Figure E.1, Column B, Row 3; F(1, 89) = 0.14), p = 0.71),

nor between sensitivity to individual penalty rule and opinion on PLUP (Figure E.1, Column B, Row 4; F(1, 89) = 0.28), p = 0.60).

Nevertheless, a closer look at opinions for each player type provided a few consistent figures: free-riders had lower mean opinion indices than unconditional cooperators both regarding PES schemes (respectively 0.48 and 0.55; Figure E.1, Column C, Row 3) and PLUPs (respectively 0.33 and 0.39; Figure E.1, Column C, Row 4). The position of conditional cooperators relative to the other player types is more unclear: while they expressed the highest opinion on PES schemes (0.57 on average), they also expressed the lowest opinion on PLUP (0.31 on average), which on average located them between conditional cooperators and free-riders (on average 0.40 for free-riders, 0.46 for conditional cooperators, 0.47 for unconditional cooperators; Figure E.1, Column C, Row 5). Overall, ANOVAs performed to measure the differences between the three player types did not yield any significant result, neither for PES only (F(2, 88) = 0.63, p = 0.53), PLUP only (F(2, 88) = 0.62, p = 0.54), or both (F(2, 88) = 0.98, p = 0.38).

E.2.2 Perception of authorities

Tests performed on the sample of 91 players suggested that both cooperativeness and responsiveness to incentives were correlated to perception of authorities. Indeed, expected fish extraction under individual positive incentives was found to linearly increase in perception of authorities (Figure E.1, Column A, Row 6), with a confidence slightly below 95% (F(1, 89) = 3.71, p = 0.057), and sensitivity to individual positive incentives to linearly decrease in perception of authorities (Figure E.1, Column B, Row 6), to a lower extent (F(1, 89) = 2.78, p = 0.099). These observations suggested that perception of authorities was lower for cooperative players, which is contrary to expectations, and for players who were responsive to Incentives. Similar correlation figures were found under Individual Penalty treatment, so that these conclusions hold for both kinds of incentives. However, discarding the oulier mentioned in the Results section (Individual real-life behaviour section) indicated that correlations did not hold anymore with the reduced sample of 90 players (at a 90% confidence level, with expected fish extraction: F(1, 88) = 2.74, p = 0.102 and with Sensitivity to Treatment: F(1, 88) = 1.74, p = 0.19).

Investigating perception of authorities for each player type confirmed these conclusions. Although the relative position of mean perceptions for players types suggested similar trends (on average, 0.54 for unconditional cooperators and 0.68 for free-riders, Figure E.1, Column C, Row 6), the mean opinions of the three groups were not significantly different at a 95% confidence level, nor at 90% level ($F(2, 87) = 1.77 \ p = 0.176$).

E.2.3 Interpersonal trust

Similarly to previous preferences, a robust link between expected fish extraction and interpersonal trust index was not found through linear regression (Figure E.1, Column A, Row 7). The test performed with the sample of 91 players did not yield any significant result (F(1, 89) = 0.17, p = 0.68). Discarding the outlier mentioned in the Results part did not change this conclusion (F(1, 88) = 0.14, p = 0.71).

Like in most opinion and perception cases described previously, the relative mean group values for unconditional cooperators and free-riders followed our expectations: unconditional cooperators were more trusting players than free-riders (on average respectively 0.65 and 0.57; Figure E.1, Column C, Row 7). Once again however, the position of conditional cooperators relative to the other two groups was harder to interpret. Interpersonal trust of conditional cooperators was the highest of the three groups (0.65 on average), and the difference between the three groups failed to be significant (F(2, 88) = 1.82, p = 0.17).







¹ Game indicator, A: Expected fish extraction, B: Sensitivity to treatment, C: Player type.

² Real-life indicator, 1: PES participation, 2: Illegal land clearance, 3: Opinion on PES,

4: Opinion on PLUP, 5: Opinion on all conservations interventions, 6: Perception of authorities,

7: Interpersonal trust.

³ Number of observations.

Figure E.1: Correlation figures between game and real-life indicators. The significance of correlation tests is displayed in Table 6.5. Bar whiskers display 95% confidence interval bounds; blue lines in scatterplots are linear regressions outputs.